PROGRESS OF THE WORLD'S WOMEN

FEMINIST CLIMATE JUSTICE A Framework for Action



Suggested citation: Laura Turquet, Constanza Tabbush, Silke Staab, Loui Williams and Brianna Howell. 2023. "Feminist Climate Justice: A Framework for Action". Conceptual framework prepared for *Progress of the World's Women* series. New York: UN-Women.

Access the series at: https://progress.unwomen.org/.

Print ISBN: 9789210029919 Print ISSN: 2663-4961 PDF ISBN: 9789213586730 Online ISSN: 2663-497X © UN-Women, 2023. All rights reserved.

The views expressed in this publication are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent the views of UN-Women, the United Nations or any of its affiliated organizations. The boundaries and names shown and the designations used on the maps in this report do not imply official endorsement or acceptance by the United Nations.

Produced by: Research and Data Section, UN-Women

Editor: Tina Johnson

Designer: Blossom.it

FEMINIST CLIMATE JUSTICE A Framework for Action



CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	5
ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS	6
INTRODUCTION	7

WHY FEMINIST CLIMATE JUSTICE	11
1.1 RECOGNITION: WHOSE RIGHTS, KNOWLEDGE AND LABOUR ARE CONSIDERED VALID?	13
1.2 REDISTRIBUTION: WHO BENEFITS AND WHO BEARS THE BURDEN?	14
1.3 REPRESENTATION: WHOSE VOICES COUNT?	15
1.4 REPARATION: HOW CAN THE CONTINUED IMPACT OF PAST INJUSTICES BE CONFRONTED?	16
1.5 CROSS-CUTTING PRINCIPLES: INTERDEPENDENCE AND INTERSECTIONALITY	18
Interdependence Intersectionality	
Intersectionality	19

THE GLOBAL FOOD SYSTEM, CLIMATE CHANGE AND GENDER INEQUALITY	21
2.1 HOW THE GLOBAL FOOD SYSTEM DRIVES THE CLIMATE CRISIS AND GENDER INEQUALITY	23
2.2 OPERATIONALIZING FEMINIST CLIMATE JUSTICE TO FIX THE GLOBAL FOOD SYSTEM	24
Recognition of women's rights, knowledge and labour in global food systems Redistributing resources for resilient food systems and feminist climate justice Representation: Making women's voices count in decision-making	
on food and climate change	28
Repairing harm and addressing the root causes of inequalities and environmental degradation in food systems	29

3. BUILDING ACCOUNTABILITY FOR FEMINIST CLIMATE JUSTICE	32
CHALLENGES TO ACCOUNTABILITY FOR FEMINIST CLIMATE JUSTICE	
3.2 BARRIERS TO ACCOUNTABILITY FOR FEMINIST CLIMATE JUSTICE	37
Political and economic forces are hampering climate accountability mechanisms Barriers to demanding accountability from below	
3.3 TOWARDS ACCOUNTABILITY FOR FEMINIST CLIMATE JUSTICE	
Reinvigorating multilateralism and democratic institutions, inclusive of women Promoting coalitions and protecting civic space Enhancing bottom-up monitoring	43
CONCLUSION	
ENDNOTES	50
REFERENCES	53

BOXES AND FIGURES

BOX	ES
-----	----

Box 1.1 Box 2.1	Data innovations to visibilize the gender-environment nexus
Box 2.2	School feeding programmes: A triple dividend for feminist climate justice.27
Box 2.3	Taking collective action on food sovereignty and climate justice: The case of La Via Campesina
Box 2.4	Looking at loss and damage in food systems through a gender lens
Box 3.1	Navigating complex accountability pathways
Box 3.2	Gender equality and climate policy scorecard
FIGURES	
Figure 1.1	Dimensions and principles of feminist climate justice12
Figure 1.2	Applying feminist climate justice in the global food system
Figure B3.1.1	Accountability in practice: Multiple levels, mechanisms and actors
Figure 3.1	Reported socio-environmental conflicts that resulted in the
	murder of women environmental defenders around the world,
	as of January 2022 41
Figure B3.2.1	Unpacking the gender equality and climate policy scorecard

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Authors: Laura Turquet, Constanza Tabbush, Silke Staab, Loui Williams and Brianna Howell Coordination and production: Elisa Acevedo Hernández, Talita Mattos and Judith Varona

This paper was informed by a series of expert group meetings and consultations held from June to August 2023. UN-Women is grateful to the following people who provided their invaluable expert insights and visions:

Alejandra Lozano, Global Initiative on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights; Alina Saba, Center for Economic and Social Rights (CESR); Ana Terra Amorim-Maia, University of Barcelona; Antra Bhatt, UN-Women; Bernadette P. Resurreccion, Queens University; Brooke Ackerly, Vanderbilt University; Camila de Moura, Fridays for Future MAPA/ Engajamundo; Carla Kay Kraft, UN-Women; Clara Mi Young Park, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO); Dalena Tran, Autonomous University of Barcelona; Diego Martino, UN-Women; Elena Ruiz Abril, UN-Women; Farhana Sultana, Syracuse University; Farzana Faruk Jhumu, Fridays for Future MAPA; Fazeela Mubarak, Wild Heart Kenya; Fiona Williams, University of Leeds; Fleur Newman, United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC); Gergana Tsvetanova, UN-Women; Haroon Akram-Lodhi, Trent University; Jemimah Njuki, UN-Women; Jennifer Gaddis, University of Wisconsin; Jessamyn Encarnacion, UN-Women; Joanita Babirye, Girls For Climate Action; Kehkashan Basu, Green Hope Foundation; Ksenija Hanaček, University of Helsinki;

Lorena Aguilar, Kaschak Institute for Social Justice for Women and Girls; Lorena Lamas, UN-Women; Mana Omar, Spring of the Arid and Semi-Arid Lands (SASAL); Marcel Llavero Pasquina, Global Atlas of Environmental Justice; Meghna Abraham, Center for Economic and Social Rights (CESR); Muriel Ametoglo, UN-Women; Nohora Alejandra Quiquantar, Tejiendo Pensamiento; Papa Seck, UN-Women; Paro Chaujar, UN-Women; Rahel Steinbach, UN-Women; Raymond Brandes, United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP); Raymond Shama, UN-Women; Rosalind Helfand, UN-Women; Sara Duerto Valero, UN-Women; Sarah A. Robert, University at Buffalo; Seema Arora-Jonsson, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences; Seemin Qayum, UN-Women; Shalmali Guttal, Focus on the Global South; Shreya Atrey, University of Oxford; Somali Cerise, Australian National University; Sophia Huyer, Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR); Susan Chomba, World Resources Institute; Svenja Siemonsen, UN-Women; Venge Nyirongo, UN-Women.

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

CEDAW	United Nations Comm	aittaa an tha Elim	vingtion of Discrit	mination against	Waman
JEDAW	United Nations Comm	ninee on the clin	indition of Discrit	nination against	women

- COP Conference of the Parties
 GBV gender-based violence
 ICJ International Court of Justice
 IPCC Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
 IUCN International Union for the Conservation of Nature
- LGBTIQ+ lesbian, gay, bisexual, trans, intersex and queer
 - LVC La Via Campesina
 - NAP National Adaptation Plan
 - NDC National Determined Contributions
- UN-Women United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women
 - **UNCBD** United Nations Convention on Biological Diversity
 - **UNCCD** United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification
 - UNFCCC United Nations Framework Convention on Combatting Climate Change
 - WAMUA Women Affected by Mining United in Action
 - WED women environmental defenders
 - WGC Women and Gender Constituency

INTRODUCTION

As global temperatures break records and government ambitions fail to match the urgency of the moment, the Paris Agreement target to limit global warming to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels is increasingly in peril.¹ Every fraction of a degree is critical as, across the globe, extreme weather events are causing flooding, drought, wildfires, food shortages, health problems and major damage to ecosystem functions and human habitats. Since 1900, global sea-levels have risen faster than in any preceding century in the last 3,000 years, endangering coastal farmlands and water reserves and posing an existential threat to low-lying small islands.² Skyrocketing levels of pollution, including plastic, are reducing ecosystems' ability to adapt to climate change, and biodiversity loss is accelerating.³ With all 20 of the 2010 Aichi Biodiversity Targets having been missed, 1 million species are under threat of extinction in the coming years, a loss that is unprecedented in human history.⁴

This ecological meltdown is driven by an economic system, under which the drivers of climate change, environmental degradation and gender and social inequality are interconnected. Each depends on the extraction of natural resources and the exploitation of cheap labour from poor women and colonized and racialized groups.⁵ Over centuries, this colonial, extractivist, patriarchal and racist⁶ system has turned the natural environment, particularly in the Global South, into a tap for the extraction of resources and a sink for disposing of waste.⁷ These violent histories are reflected today in the deeply unequal share of both historical responsibility for greenhouse gas emissions and who suffers most from the impacts. The Global North has been responsible for 68 per cent of CO₂ emissions since 1850.⁸ While only accounting for 16 per cent of the world's population, highincome countries generate 34 per cent of the world's waste, which is often exported to lower-income countries that lack the infrastructure to process it in environmentally safe ways, contributing to toxic chemical and microplastic contamination of food chains on land and in the sea.9

Gender inequalities, along with other social and economic inequalities, intensify vulnerability to climate change impacts. A growing body of evidence on gender and climate change identifies negative impacts across a range of economic and social outcomes for women, girls and gender-diverse people because of underlying gender inequalities and the failure to take gender issues into account in environmental policymaking.¹⁰ In the past 20 years, the number of climate-related disasters has nearly doubled.¹¹ Women and girls are more vulnerable to disasters, in terms of both the immediate impacts as well as their capacity to recover in the aftermath, because of gender inequalities.¹² For example, women's lower levels of literacy and use of technology hamper their access to information about what to do in the event of a disaster; and poor design of emergency shelters can prevent women and girls from using them when weather disasters strike.

Globally, laws, policies and social norms that discriminate on the basis of gender mean that women typically have less access to income and finance, employment and productive resources, including agricultural land. This means that when weather patterns change, disrupting infrastructure and public services or affecting food production, they are less able to adapt their livelihoods, recover and rebuild. Women's unpaid care responsibilities in families and communities often increase in the context of environmental change and stress, as water, fuel and nutritious food are harder to come by and the health-care needs of family members increase.¹³ Globally, by mid-century, under a worst-case scenario, climate change may push up to 158 million more women and girls into poverty (16 million more than the total number of men and boys).¹⁴

Economic hardship wrought by a heating planet is having additional knock-on effects for gender equality. Evidence shows that as communities are plunged into recurrent crises, tensions within families and between partners rise and gender-based violence escalates.¹⁵ After years of slow progress, rates of child marriage are increasing in places experiencing environmental stress.¹⁶ Droughts have been found to increase son preference and sexselective abortion as well as the likelihood of girls dropping out of school.¹⁷ Hard-won progress on gender equality since the Beijing Platform for Action has been incremental but inadequate,¹⁸ and without action to halt climate change, the world's women and girls now face wholesale reversal of their human rights.

The climate crisis unfolds within, and is marked by, a series of other crises:

- a crisis of extreme economic inequalities that has concentrated wealth and power among the few while causing widespread economic insecurity among the many and trapping millions of women and girls in poverty and hunger;
- a crisis of care, exacerbated by a vicious cycle of debt, austerity and the retrenchment of public services, which has left millions of children and care-dependent adults without support while imposing hard choices and enormous costs on women and girls;
- a crisis of racialized violence and dispossession, rooted in attempts to dehumanize and disenfranchise Black, Indigenous and other people of colour, including migrants and refugees;
- a crisis of democracy, which is hampering action on climate change, fuelled by the rise of movements that propagate xenophobic, regressive nationalism and climate denialism, often alongside anti-immigrant and anti-gender rhetoric; and
- an upsurge in violence and protracted conflict, resulting in forced migration and conflict-related sexual violence, which is also leading to increased fragmentation and geopolitical gridlock on the international stage.¹⁹

Taken together, all these add up to an 'epochal crisis'²⁰ with pervasive and mutually reinforcing effects that

accelerate the existential threat of climate change while simultaneously undermining the political conditions needed to address it. As such, this requires not tinkering around the edges but the transformation of every part of the world's economies and societies.

Using the frame of feminist climate justice, this paper provides a vision of where the world needs to go in this critical moment as well as a policy framework to guide action towards it. It requires that gender-specific risks and vulnerabilities are recognized and addressed as countries transition to low-emission economies that are resilient to a changing climate; and that resources are fairly redistributed so that such transitions are just and equitable and women and gender-diverse people can benefit from future opportunities. It recognizes the leadership and agency of women and genderdiverse people, particularly when they organize collectively, in adapting and driving the change that is so urgently needed.

The term 'climate justice' has been in use for a long time, first in academia to discuss the moral and ethical dimensions of climate change, and subsequently taken up by civil society through activism to foreground the people and communities who have contributed least to the problem but are suffering its most intense impacts.²¹ Feminist climate justice brings a gender lens to this by showing how the drivers of climate and environmental breakdown are also the structural drivers of gender inequalities.²² Feminism is a mode of analysis, but it is also about progressive action to transform institutions, laws, policies and practices towards greater gender equality. Therefore, in this paper, the aim is to define conceptually what feminist climate justice is and to then unpack it in a practical way that can provide guidance to policymakers on what needs to happen and can support its monitoring and implementation.

Section 1 of the paper outlines the feminist climate justice framework, which includes four interlinked domains: recognition, redistribution, representation and reparation. It also brings into view the principles of interdependence – between humans and ecosystems, between countries and generations – and intersectionality as a basis for solidarity and political action.

Section 2 then provides an example of how this conceptual framework can be applied to policy in practice. It focuses on food systems and agriculture, which is one of many sectors that needs to be transformed to address climate change and environmental degradation, showing how gender and other inequalities can be transformed in the process. Globally, more than one third of working women are employed in this sector (rising to two thirds in sub-Saharan Africa and nearly three quarters in southern Asia), which is extremely vulnerable to climate change.²³ The sector therefore lends itself to the application of the feminist climate justice approach.

Finally, the paper turns to the issue of accountability. Holding climate decision-makers accountable to women and girls requires shifting power dynamics and the renewal of democratic practices at all levels. Section 3 looks at how this might be achieved and presents a forthcoming accountability tool, the gender equality and climate policy scorecard, that UN-Women is developing with the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) and the Kaschak Institute for Social Justice for Women and Girls at Binghamton University to contribute towards this effort. The ideas contained here will provide the conceptual framework for the forthcoming edition of the United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women's (UN-Women) flagship report, *Progress of the World's Women: Gender Equality in the Age of Climate Crisis.* In addition to a conceptual framework, this series includes data and policy analysis, as well as promising case studies of public action, and draws together recommendations for policy actors to accelerate the achievement of gender equality.

This paper was developed based on a diversity of feminist academic and activist perspectives, spanning a range of disciplines from economics to political ecology, sociology, social policy, political science and geography. In June and July 2023, UN-Women convened two expert consultations, bringing together a group of leading feminists to present these ideas and to hear their critical feedback. The proposals were further scrutinized in a consultation in August 2023 with youth leaders active in UN-Women's Generation Equality Forum Action Coalition on Feminist Action for Climate Justice.²⁴ It is hoped that all the rich insights from these meetings have been adequately reflected here and that this paper, the conceptual framework for the forthcoming Progress of the World's Women report, will continue to generate debate and discussion around these ideas.

IN PURSUIT OF FEMINIST CLIMATE JUSTICE: A FRAMEWORK

WHY FEMINIST CLIMATE JUSTICE?

Gender inequalities intensify vulnerability to climate change impacts, which in turn jeopardize hard-won gains on women's rights



Sources: ° UNEP 2022a; ^b UNDRR 2022; ^c UN-Women and UNDESA 2023; ^d UN-Women and UN-Water undated.

The vision for feminist climate justice is of a world in which everyone can enjoy the full range of human rights, free from discrimination, and flourish on a planet that is healthy and sustainable. To achieve this, economic and social policies will have to be substantially transformed away from the pursuit of growth at any cost and profits for the few.

Drawing on Nancy Fraser's pioneering theory of justice,²⁵ climate justice requires: the **recognition** and respect of diverse identities, experiences and forms of knowledge; the **redistribution** of resources; and the **representation** and meaningful participation of women and marginalized groups in climaterelated decision-making. Though not specific to gender equality, these dimensions closely mirror the definition of climate justice proposed by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC): "distributive justice which refers to the allocation of burdens and benefits among individuals, nations and generations; procedural justice which refers to who decides and participates in decision-making; and recognition which entails basic respect and robust engagement with and fair consideration of diverse cultures and perspectives".²⁶ In addition, the intergenerational dimensions of climate change call for reparative justice, including **reparations** for past and future harm.²⁷

This framework (see Figure 1.1) is intended to provide conceptual clarity on what the barriers are to feminist climate justice as well as practical guidance on how public action can drive the transformation needed at all levels and across all sectors. Based on decades of feminist economist, ecological and decolonial thinking, this transformation must be guided by an ethics of care that embraces interdependence as the basis of human interaction and intersectionality as a core principle.²⁸



Figure 1.1 DIMENSIONS AND PRINCIPLES OF FEMINIST CLIMATE JUSTICE

1.1 RECOGNITION: WHOSE RIGHTS, KNOWLEDGE AND LABOUR ARE CONSIDERED VALID?

As the Black American writer James Baldwin stated: "Not everything that is faced can be changed; but nothing can be changed until it is faced".²⁹ The recognition of multiple and intersecting inequalities that affect a person's experience in the world - whether based on their gender, age, race, ethnicity, disability or sexual orientation - is crucial for human dignity and acknowledging the diversity of human experience.³⁰ Yet, too often, 'misrecognition' occurs whereby differences are weaponized through stereotyping and stigmatization, which naturalizes the dehumanization of groups, their oppression and discrimination against them.³¹ Violence against women and lesbian, gay, bisexual, trans, intersex and queer (LGBTIQ+) people, which is increasing in the context of the climate crisis, is one very widespread and pernicious form of 'misrecognition'.³² While analytically distinct, recognitive justice it is closely linked to distributive justice: that is, recognition wrongs can be experienced regardless of relative socio-economic disadvantage, but they also often compound it.

In climate change-related policy, research and practice, 'misrecognition' manifests itself in the institutionalized neglect and devaluation of the rights, contributions and knowledge of women and marginalized groups. Environmental justice scholars have long shown, for example, how poor, Black, Indigenous and other marginalized communities are disproportionately affected by pollution, chemical exposure and toxic waste,³³ while new and old forms of extractivism continue to fuel the dispossession of Indigenous territory.

Feminist scholars, in turn, have consistently drawn parallels between the devaluation and depletion of women's unpaid labour and the natural environment, with both considered infinitely elastic and costless even as together they create the very foundation on which the economy rests.³⁴ Neither women's unpaid care work nor ecosystem services are taken into account in conventional economic metrics, meaning they are both invisible in measures of economic progress and prosperity, notably gross domestic product (GDP), an issue on which the United Nations Secretary-General has recently called for change.³⁵ More generally, quantitative data on gender and the environment is scarce, hampering evidencebased policymaking (see Box 1.1).

Whose knowledge is recognized as valid and valuable is highly gendered. A recent study analysing 100 highly cited climate science papers revealed that less than 1 per cent of authors were based in Africa, while almost three quarters had affiliations with European or North American institutions. Less than a quarter of authors were women and only 12 papers had female lead authors.³⁶ There are clear hierarchies of knowledge in climate change discussions, with a tendency to prioritize top-down technological solutions and strong reliance on (maledominated) disciplines such as physical sciences and engineering.³⁷ This goes alongside the privileging of quantitative over qualitative data and of 'measurable' over 'lived-world' knowledge that is often held by women and Indigenous people. A wider array of knowledge remains excluded from dominant climate change narratives and policymaking.³⁸ This is despite mounting evidence that inclusive planning informed by diverse cultural values and Indigenous and local knowledge is critical to prevent maladaptation and facilitate climate resilient development.³⁹ Recognizing the equal value of these situated forms of knowledge about mitigation and adaptation needs and solutions will be critical if feminist climate justice is to be achieved.

Box 1.1 DATA INNOVATIONS TO VISIBILIZE THE GENDER-ENVIRONMENT NEXUS

Capturing the intersections of gender and environment in quantitative data is challenging and has long been neglected. Until recently, environmental statistics have focused on input-output variables, such as CO₂ emissions and fish stocks with little attention paid to the interaction and interdependence between humans and the environment. As a result, the targets and indicators of the sustainable development goal (SDG) framework were not designed with a gender perspective and the mainstreaming of gender in environment statistics is not yet a key part of the work of national statistical systems. The large gaps in gender statistics on this critical issue are holding back progress on gender-responsive policymaking.

Mainstreaming gender in environment statistics is not just about compiling sex-disaggregated data. It also requires developing methodologies and guidance on how to measure and monitor environmentrelated issues affecting or affected by women or men alone, or a preponderance of women compared to men, or vice-versa. This in turn can ensure data capture socially constructed vulnerabilities, the differentiated roles women and men play in environmental conservation and decision-making, and the specific needs, challenges and priorities of all genders in relation to the environment.

Qualitative and mixed methods studies, informed by interdisciplinary social and natural sciences, are needed to fully capture the gender-environment nexus. Innovative analysis of existing datasets also has a part to play. For example, combining household survey and geospatial data can shed light on how droughts, increases in temperature and evapotranspiration affect the odds of child marriage, adolescent births, violence against women, access to clean water and use of clean cooking fuels.⁴⁰ Citizen-generated data can provide unique insights and bring in a diversity of perspectives and experiences. Such innovation will require partnerships that go well beyond the traditional actors within national statistical systems.

As part of its Women Count programme, UN-Women has worked with partners in the United Nations and governments to develop survey tools, including a model questionnaire on gender and environment, which several countries in the Asia-Pacific region have already implemented (Bangladesh, Mongolia, Samoa and Tonga) or plan to do so (Cambodia, Kiribati and Viet Nam).⁴¹ The Global Conference on Gender and Environment Data, in the run up to COP 28, provides a space for sharing expertise and experiences on collecting, analysing and using data on the nexus to catalyse innovation and replication, scale-up data collection and ultimately improve decision-making and accountability for feminist climate action.⁴²

1.2 REDISTRIBUTION: WHO BENEFITS AND WHO BEARS THE BURDEN?

Climate justice is centrally concerned with the fact that those who have contributed least to the problem of climate change are most affected by its impacts.⁴³ There is an important global dimension to this as countries in the Global South are disproportionately affected by devastating climate impacts that were triggered by centuries of cumulative emissions of predominantly Global North countries (see Section 1.3). But within countries too, in both the Global North and South, there are vast inequalities between the 'polluter elites', who are responsible for the largest share of emissions, and the 'precariat' who have contributed little and who, without substantial resources to build their resilience, are much less able to handle the impacts of climate change and adapt their livelihoods to the new reality.⁴⁴

Socio-economic disadvantages are often exacerbated by other inequalities that compound vulnerability to climate change impacts. Black, Indigenous and other people of colour, as well as LGBTIQ+ people, are overrepresented among those who are poor and disproportionately exposed to ecological harms and toxic environments.⁴⁵ Women and gender diverse people's lesser access to education, jobs and productive resources, including land, as well as their disproportionate responsibility for unpaid care and domestic work, may reduce their capacity to adapt and exclude them from new economic opportunities that open up in transitions towards sustainability. Climate policies therefore need to engage head-on with questions of "who benefits, who loses out, in what ways, where, and why?"46 Unless climate action simultaneously addresses underlying gender, racial and income inequalities,

it is likely that solutions will exacerbate these.⁴⁷ Indeed, many large-scale renewable energy projects are already replicating the social and ecological damage caused by extractive industries, which has adversely impacted the rights of women and girls in local and Indigenous communities.⁴⁸

A redistribution of resources is needed to prevent harm and redress the multiple socio-economic disadvantages faced by women in all their diversity. In the energy sector, for example, gender-just transitions need to break with current extractivist practices, do more to address the needs of 'energypoor' women and ensure that women benefit from new jobs and leadership opportunities created in the renewable energy sector.⁴⁹ More broadly, gender-just transitions would transform economies away from fossil fuel-dependent growth towards economies that recognize human and planetary interdependence through investments in sectors that are both low carbon and critical for gender equality and human flourishing writ large, notably the care economy.⁵⁰

1.3 REPRESENTATION: WHOSE VOICES COUNT?

The third dimension of justice is political and centrally concerned with equal representation. Both connected to and conceptually distinct from the other two dimensions of justice, "it tells us not only who can make claims for redistribution and recognition, but also how such claims are to be mooted and adjudicated".⁵¹

'Misrepresentation' occurs when political boundaries or procedural rules work to prevent some groups from having an equal voice and fair representation in public deliberations and decision-making processes that affect their lives. In the context of climate change, misrepresentation is clearly visible at all levels. Despite their longstanding leadership on environmental issues, whether as political leaders (e.g., Gro Harlem Brundtland, Christiana Figueres, Mia Mottley), civil society activists (e.g., Berta Cáceres, Wangari Mathaai, Vanessa Nakate) or scholars (e.g., Maria Mies, Elinor Ostrom, Vandana Shiva), women remain largely marginalized from environmental decision-making. For example, globally, women are only 15 per cent of environment ministers⁵² and, at the same time, the space for feminist movements, youth and women's civil society organizations to stake claims, co-shape or contest climate mitigation and adaptation policies that affect their communities either does not exist or has been shrinking rapidly in many countries.⁵³

While gender action plans have been adopted to strengthen the implementation of the Rio conventions, including the United Nations Framework Convention on Combatting Climate Change (UNFCCC), the United Nations Convention on Biological Diversity (UNCBD) and the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification (UNCCD), gender equality advocates have also long decried women's underrepresentation in delegations, boards and bodies.⁵⁴ Between 2012 and 2022, women's participation in national delegations to the UNFCCC Conferences of the Parties (COPs) rose from 30 to 35 per cent; however, the proportion of delegations headed by women declined slightly from 21 to 20 per cent over the same period.⁵⁵

While supporting women's leadership and participation in these spaces is critical, there are other aspects of procedural injustice that also need to be addressed. The UNFCCC COPs are important for hammering out agreements between Member States, but they provide little space for affected communities to make demands and seek redress for environmental injustice. Even the milestone loss and damage fund agreed at COP 27 in 2022, which potentially provides (voluntary) compensation for when harm is done, includes no mechanism for holding Global North countries accountable for causing it. A similar vacuum exists at the national level, where the rights of Indigenous communities are often bulldozed over in the name of large-scale renewable energy projects.⁵⁶ Women environmental defenders are at the forefront of struggles against the encroachment of extractive industries on Indigenous territories, often facing significant threats and violence, including extrajudicial killings (see Section 3.2).⁵⁷

Although there are some limited indications of change through the courts,⁵⁸ there has so far been little accountability for those governments who fail to meet their legal commitments under the Paris Agreement, woefully inadequate action by multinational corporations and inadequate scrutiny of the global financial architecture, which makes investments in sustainability all but impossible for many countries.⁵⁹ This lack of accountability is corrosive to democracy at national and global levels and thus to the possibility of inclusive decision-making. Without addressing these broader democratic deficits, feminist climate justice will remain out of reach.

1.4 REPARATION: HOW CAN THE CONTINUED IMPACT OF PAST INJUSTICES BE CONFRONTED?

Climate justice has important intergenerational and global dimensions too. As the latest IPCC assessment report recognizes, both responsibility for the climate crisis and the ability of countries and communities to respond to its devastating impacts have been shaped by histories of systemic racism, colonialism and imperialism.⁶⁰ To advance towards feminist climate justice, the continuing impact of these legacies needs to be acknowledged and redressed to ensure that present and future generations are not subject to similar harm.

Indeed, economic prosperity in today's high-income countries was built, to a large extent, on the colonization, enslavement and exploitation of people and natural resources in the Global South.⁶¹ In the process, Global North countries have incurred massive ecological or climate debt, accounting for 68 per cent of cumulative global emissions and 92 per cent of excess emissions since 1850.⁶² Against this backdrop, the principle of "common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities"63 for climate change mitigation and adaptation have long been recognized and are a central tenet of the UNFCCC. Yet, for years, Global North countries have failed to acknowledge this debt or to make good on their climate finance commitments. On the contrary, the contemporary architecture of international climate finance has been critiqued as a form of neocolonialism, whereby Global North countries promote debt-increasing options such as loans and green bonds for Global South countries under non-concessional or unfavourable conditions.64 Further, the abilities of Global South countries to promote resilience in the face of the climate crisis are often constrained by debt: 3.3 billion people live in countries that spend more on interest payments than on health or education due to severe constraints on public spending.65

To address this climate debt, a global redistribution of resources from the Global North to the Global South is needed, not only to support adaptation and mitigation efforts but also as part of a process of accountability for climate-induced loss and damage.⁶⁶ Demands to address loss and damage have been articulated by Small-Island Developing States and low-income countries, in partnership with civil society, since at least the 1980s, while heavily contested by some of the largest emitters in the Global North.⁶⁷ Indeed, progress had been blocked by high-income countries for years prior to the decision to establish a fund for loss and damage at COP 27 in 2022.⁶⁸

Calls for accountability for climate-induced loss and damage share some common ground with calls for 'climate reparations', a phrase rooted in Black radical thought and decolonial and Indigenous movements. They have long emphasized the interconnection between the monetary and symbolic aspects of reparations, including the public acknowledgement of and apology for harm and the commitment not to repeat such harm.⁶⁹ In the context of climate change, this means recognizing the impact of greenhouse gas emissions and other environmentally harmful practices on poorer countries and communities and preventing them from happening in the future. Given the outsized responsibility of large corporations, almost exclusively from the Global North in such practices, governments have a responsibility to introduce and enforce regulations that prevent them. This would include preventing land grabbing in the Global South for carbon offsetting, which in the absence of adequate regulation provides 'permits to pollute' for companies with few if any climate benefits for local communities.⁷⁰

Movements for climate justice also emphasize redress for 'non-economic' loss and damage, which could include harms such as displacement from ancestral lands, increases in gender-based violence, intergenerational trauma, ill-health and loss of cultural heritage and Indigenous knowledge.⁷¹ From an environmental perspective, too, compensation paid to the human survivors of environmental destruction does not necessarily or automatically lead to the repair or restoration of fragile ecosystems or lost biodiversity.⁷² Many of the 'non-economic' damages are highly gendered and racialized, reflecting the exclusion of women and gender-diverse people from the formal economy as well as the unpaid contributions that they make to the care and repair of families, communities and societies, including during and after crises.⁷³ However, not everyone's losses are valued equally, and damages incurred by some groups are often prioritized for repair over others.⁷⁴

Climate reparations are therefore a "world making question" about how we are protecting each other and how harm is addressed.⁷⁵ Going beyond economic compensation for loss and damage, reparations are also about apology and making amends, based on trust and cooperation,⁷⁶ and a starting point for transforming the world towards climate justice.⁷⁷

The four dimensions of this framework each focus on a different aspect of feminist climate justice that needs to be addressed to achieve gender equality and transform economies and societies away from environmental degradation. While each dimension is distinct, they are also closely linked to one another, and action in one dimension will inform action in another. For example, without recognizing women's unpaid labour in households and support to ecosystems, policies to redistribute resources and opportunities may not reach or benefit them. Recognizing intersectional discrimination and validating diverse forms of knowledge will be required to ensure that women and other historically marginalized groups are meaningfully represented in decision-making and policy deliberations. Reparation entails the recognition of injustice, the redistribution of resources and the representation of marginalized voices.

1.5 CROSS-CUTTING PRINCIPLES: INTERDEPENDENCE AND INTERSECTIONALITY

Underpinning the four dimensions are two critical feminist principles: interdependence and intersectionality. These principles distinguish the vision of feminist climate justice from other approaches based on binary oppositions, including between humans and nature, dependence and autonomy and individual action and collective solidarity.

Interdependence

As humans, we begin and end our lives depending on others for care, and in between those times we are continuously engaged in interdependent relationships of care with others.⁷⁸ This idea of human interdependence recognizes that human existence is relational; we do not exist outside of the relationships that enable and sustain us. Nor does human life exist outside of our relationship with the ecosystems that surround us. Such planetary interdependence also refers to interdependence within nature – ecosystems are complex networks of components that interact and depend on one another.⁷⁹ These interdependent relationships have been recognized in different historical and cultural contexts. For example, the African philosophy of Ubuntu - "I am because we are"- implies that individuals define themselves through their relationship with the community.⁸⁰ In Latin America, in turn, the Buen Vivir (Living Well) paradigm that underpins the development strategies of Bolivia and Ecuador is inspired by Indigenous knowledge and values that promote harmonious relationships between humans and nature, based on an understanding that nature, as well as humans, has rights.81

Conventional Western Enlightenment thinking, on the other hand, laid the basis for a series of artificial divides: between humanity and nature, as well as between public and private and, as a corollary, between (male-dominated) paid work and unpaid care work that is predominantly performed by women. While economic production depends on social reproduction and ecological regeneration, both are devalued and depleted under the current economic system.⁸²

Acknowledging our human and planetary interdependence dissolves these rigid divisions and allows for the recalibration of priorities.⁸³ In doing so, it lays the basis for a vision where the relentless pursuit of economic growth, productivity and efficiency no longer overrides considerations of ecological, social and political sustainability. Instead of expecting individuals to absorb and bounce back from ever more extreme conditions and inequalities, it recognizes that resilience is relational and can only be achieved or strengthened through relationships with others.⁸⁴ Therefore, care comes to the fore and the question of how societies can collectively organize care for people and the planet to ensure the "survival and flourishing of life"⁸⁵ claims centre stage.

As Section 3 explores, adequate responses to this question can only be found through inclusive, democratic processes and institutions. Citizens depend on the state for the provision of public goods, and the survival and success of democratic States depends on whether they are able to respond to the legitimate demands of their people. In many countries, this political interdependence has been severely curtailed by the pressures of global financial markets and repeated cycles of debt, austerity and privatization. In addition, international migration and refugee flows mean that most States now comprise a significant number of 'non-citizens', whose rights also need to be addressed. In a globalized and deeply unequal world, interdependence therefore extends beyond the confines of the State. Interdependence is global, it the sense that it includes relationships with diasporas and stateless people, and because problems such as climate change can only be solved through global action and cooperation.⁸⁶

Interdependence also extends across time. Intergenerational interdependence summons moral obligations both to the generations who will inherit this planet as well as to past generations who experienced violence and dispossession through enslavement, colonialism and imperialism. Colonialism still reverberates today in both the causes of the climate crisis and the disproportionate impacts it has had and continues to have on people in the Global South.

Intersectionality

The neglect, sidelining and profound damage inflicted on these interdependent relationships has not only ushered in the 'epochal crisis' described earlier; it has also impaired our collective ability to respond to it. An intersectional approach is indispensable to overcoming this impasse, providing both analytical and political purchase for thinking and acting on the possibilities for solidarity, alliances and collective action across differences.⁸⁷

As an analytical concept, intersectionality "provides an understanding of social inequalities and power as complex, interlinked, shifting and multifaceted, constituting both penalties and privileges".⁸⁸ It concentrates on the lived experiences of those who are hidden or marginalized and highlights the complexity of their disadvantage. As such, it recognizes the specificities of gender inequality and, at the same time, seeks to explain how these are caught up and reproduced by other systems of subordination and oppression (classism, racism, caste-based discrimination, ableism, xenophobia and homophobia).⁸⁹ In relation to the climate crisis, an intersectional approach asks: How have gender and racial inequalities been reproduced and exacerbated by histories of extractivism, commodification and climate change? And how far do current policies aimed at climate mitigation and adaptation repair these histories or reproduce them in new forms?⁹⁰

As a political practice, intersectionality goes beyond recognizing these inequalities, by uncovering power hierarchies and bringing historically marginalized voices into deliberative processes, to generate solidarity and common agendas.⁹¹ As such, an intersectional approach "can pursue commonalities that do not lose sight of specificities of difference and specificities which do not lose sight of commonalities",⁹² creating opportunities for alliances across feminist, ecological, social and racial justice movements. As Section 3 shows, efforts to build such alliances across movements and campaigns have already emerged.

With a clear vision for feminist climate justice, four dimensions to operationalize it and the principles of interdependence and intersectionality to underpin action, Section 2 lays out what this looks like in practice. Pathways to prevent and reverse environmental degradation and climate change are complex and context specific. They are not about one policy area or sector; they require transformation of entire economies and the whole of societies. But, to chart a path forward, the next section zooms into one major sector, food systems and agriculture, to examine in more detail what changes are necessary to move towards feminist climate justice.



ADVANCING FEMINIST CLIMATE JUSTICE IN THE GLOBAL FOOD SYSTEM

THE GLOBAL FOOD SYSTEM, CLIMATE CHANGE AND GENDER INEQUALITY

The global food system is broken. It is fuelling climate change, failing to feed the world's population and exacerbating inequalities. It is one major sector that needs to be transformed to advance feminist climate justice.



Sources: ° FAO 2022; ^b UN-Women and UNDESA 2023; ^c Lowder et al. 2021.

As the United Nations Secretary-General recently stated, the global food system is broken.⁹³ It fails to feed the world's population adequately, is fuelling climate change and is exacerbating inequalities, including gender inequality. Transforming this system is therefore one important part of moving towards feminist climate justice and supporting the global transition to environmentally sustainable economies and societies in which all women and girls can enjoy the full range of their human rights. While Section 1 outlined the framework for feminist climate justice, this section zooms into one major sector - food systems and agriculture – to provide guidance on what this daunting task looks like in practice. As Figure 2.1 shows, in relation to transformation of the global food system:

 Recognition means moving away from top-down climate adaptation that fails to take into account women's knowledge, labour and rights towards approaches that build diverse and resilient food systems from the bottom up.

- Redistribution means shifting resources away from industrial agricultural production to ensure that women producers have access to the land, finance, markets and social protection they need to adapt to a rapidly changing climate.
- Representation means decision-making on climate and food systems, from the local to the global, that prioritizes the voices of marginalized groups, including women and those most affected by hunger.
- Reparation means acknowledging that the roots of contemporary food crises run deep, demanding that the mistakes of the past are not repeated and that resources are provided to repair historical harms.



Figure 2.1 APPLYING FEMINIST CLIMATE JUSTICE IN THE GLOBAL FOOD SYSTEM

Interdependence is at the heart of the global food system. Food provisioning is a key part of human interdependence and care, a role for which women are often responsible. It is a system that is fundamentally based on interdependence between humans and ecosystems: In the absence of sustainable food production, ecosystems are rapidly breaking down. The problems in food system governance demonstrate the deep interdependence between countries and the need for global cooperation to create more a more sustainable and equitable future. An intersectional approach, which both recognizes difference and enables solidarity, will be necessary to guide the kinds of alliances and public action needed to advance change.

2.1 HOW THE GLOBAL FOOD SYSTEM DRIVES THE CLIMATE CRISIS AND GENDER INEQUALITY

The global food system includes the complex web of actors, processes and infrastructure involved in feeding the world's population, encompassing the primary production of food as well as food storage, post-harvest handling, transportation, processing, distribution, marketing, disposal and consumption. It has become a major driver of environmental degradation and climate change, and it has marginalized women farmers while also failing to address hunger and malnutrition. As such, today's food systems, and in particular dominant approaches to agricultural production, present a major barrier to both gender equality and efforts to prevent and adapt to climate change.

Globally, one third of anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions, the equivalent of 16 billion tonnes of CO₂ in 2020, come from agrifood systems, an increase of 9 per cent since 2000.94 The global food system is also responsible for the decimation of biodiversity. The rate of species extinction today is higher than the average rate over the past 10 million years, with agriculture alone being the identified threat to 24,000 of the 28,000 species at risk.⁹⁵ The culprit for this devastating environmental impact is industrial agriculture, a process of consolidation away from small, diverse producers and a variety of crops and livestock to large-scale, intensive production of animals and a small number of crops, often reliant on chemical fertilizers, pesticides and antibiotics.⁹⁶ These processes generate greenhouse gas emissions through not only crop and livestock production itself but also

land-use change such as deforestation or peatland degradation. Demand for animal products in the Global North, as well as among the growing middle classes in the Global South, is increasing emissions of methane, an especially potent greenhouse gas, and driving destruction of forests for grazing and production of grains for animal food.⁹⁷ Large-scale irrigated agriculture also creates massive demand for water, contributing to the growing number of people living in contexts of critical water stress.⁹⁸

Industrial agriculture has led to the concentration of resources and power in the hands of a small number of landowners and multinational corporations. In the process, the work of small-scale farmers, a majority of whom are women, has become more difficult. These farmers produce around one third of food globally, which makes their work essential for food security in many parts of the Global South.99 Small-scale agriculture is highly vulnerable to climate impacts. The increased frequency of extreme weather events and the impacts of sloweronset environmental degradation – including that associated with soil salinization, desertification, sea level rise and the acidification of oceans is directly impacting agricultural and aquacultural harvests and yields.¹⁰⁰ Many women producers are in an especially precarious position because they lack secure rights and control over land, which hampers their access to the finance, technology and information that would enable them to adopt climate-resilient agricultural techniques.

Transformation of the global food system is therefore essential from the perspective of both mitigating climate emissions and supporting the adaptation and resilience of small-scale producers. It is also necessary to address widespread hunger and malnutrition. Currently, the world produces enough food to feed every person on the planet, so the problem is not global availability but a question of accessibility and entitlement.¹⁰¹ This framing is central to the 'right to food', which places a duty on governments, not just to provide food, but to create the conditions under which everyone is able to access food for themselves.¹⁰²

In spite of these human rights guarantees, more than a quarter of women and men globally in 2022

- 2.4 billion people – experienced moderate or severe food insecurity (27.8 per cent and 25.4 per cent, respectively), meaning they did not have access to adequate food.¹⁰³ Progress on addressing global hunger stagnated from 2014 onwards and went into full reverse during the COVID-19 pandemic.¹⁰⁴ Moreover, under a worst-case climate scenario, it is projected that as many as 236 million more women and girls may fall into food insecurity (and 131 million more men and boys) by 2050.¹⁰⁵

Given that the current global food system has shown itself unable to feed the world's population even now, with especially harsh impacts on women and girls, as climate change escalates, the imperative for change is clear.

2.2 OPERATIONALIZING FEMINIST CLIMATE JUSTICE TO FIX THE GLOBAL FOOD SYSTEM

The four dimensions of feminist climate justice provide a roadmap to addressing the dysfunction in food systems in ways that can support the right to food, climate resilience and gender equality. Recognizing women's knowledge, redistributing resources, ensuring women's voices are heard in decisionmaking and repairing historical harms are central to achieving these outcomes.

Recognition of women's rights, knowledge and labour in global food systems

Women's rights, knowledge and labour in food systems are too often violated, invisible or exploited. Since women are the backbone of food security in many countries, this matters from the perspective of advancing gender equality as well as of ensuring the well-being of broader families and communities.

The global food system has moved towards concentration and homogeneity but, given how much is unknown and unpredictable about how the climate crisis will unfold, resilient solutions lie in greater diversity and context-specific approaches.¹⁰⁶ For that, recognition of women's knowledge at all levels, from global to local, is invaluable.

Women are involved at all parts of the global food system – as producers, processors, traders and consumers.¹⁰⁷ Globally, 36 per cent of working women are employed in agrifood systems, making up 38 per cent of the agricultural workforce and almost 50 per cent of workers in aquaculture value chains.¹⁰⁸ Women's work in food systems is often in the most precarious positions, performing unpaid labour on family farms or hired as seasonal, part-time and low-paid labour, including in food processing, preparation or vending. Women's food work also includes provisioning and preparing food for their own families, for others as domestic workers and for broader communities through communal kitchens.¹⁰⁹ Women's informal paid and unpaid food work is often unrecognized or taken for granted and, as a result, not captured in official statistics. This means that when policymakers think about how to strengthen food systems, including in the context of climate change, they often fail to take gender equality into account.

Official data need to be strengthened to make women's work visible and inform policymaking. In addition, the valuable experience and knowledge that diverse women have gained as a result of their work in food systems needs to be brought to bear on policy. This is especially true in contexts where weather patterns are changing and, through necessity, women are already adapting their work and livelihoods. Without burdening women with being 'sustainability saviours', perceived as naturally more caring and connected to the environment, recognizing these context-specific, constantly evolving knowledges is vital for effective climate adaptation and efforts to build resilience.¹¹⁰

At the global level, the United Nations Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) is an authoritative voice, convening leading scientists to compile cutting-edge knowledge to guide policy and practice. Their work has been dominated by the natural sciences, however, often overlooking the contribution of the social sciences to understanding climate change as a social and political as well as biophysical phenomenon. This has sidelined analysis of gender and other inequalities in the work of the IPCC, contributing to the marginalization of these concerns in policymaking too.

The adoption of the IPCC Gender Policy and Implementation Plan in 2020 aimed to address this¹¹¹ and enabled the nomination of prominent feminist scholars to the writing teams. For example, Martina Caretta, a feminist geographer, served as the coordinating lead author of the chapter on water for working group II of the IPCC Sixth Assessment Report.¹¹² Under her leadership, the chapter brought Indigenous knowledge to bear on impact assessments and solutions and emphasized a climate justice approach that acknowledges and aims to rectify the colonial and patriarchal drivers of climate change.¹¹³ This feminist perspective on a crucial issue for climate resilience in water and food systems is unprecedented and paves the way for greater recognition of diverse women's knowledge in shaping policy on climate change.¹¹⁴

Meanwhile, at the local level, effective climate adaptation and mitigation in the agrifood sector requires approaches that are based on the bottomup, context-specific knowledge and expertise of small-scale farmers. For example, women have used their knowledge of Indigenous varieties to lead community seed banks and conserve a diversity of genetic resources, which is good for nutrition, biodiversity and climate resilience. Keeping Indigenous or local breeds of livestock, which are resilient to climate stress and inexpensive to feed, is also a common strategy.¹¹⁵ Agroecology, which is the antithesis of industrial farming, is another approach that has been gaining traction (see Box 2.1).

Redistributing resources for resilient food systems and feminist climate justice

Redistribution will be required to transform food systems towards feminist climate justice. Industrial farming, which is characterized by the concentration of resources in the hands of a few large landowners and corporations, harms the environment and marginalizes women farmers and other food workers. Therefore, to make small-scale farming sustainable for both workers and the environment, and to address hunger and malnutrition, governments need to both redistribute land and economic resources and invest in gender-responsive infrastructure, public services and social protection.

Land reforms aimed at creating larger industrial farms mean that 1 per cent of farms today operate more than 70 per cent of farmland.¹¹⁶ In the Global South, these reforms have reinforced women's unequal access to land, with the result that they are less likely than men to have ownership or secure tenure rights over agricultural land in 40 of 46 countries with available data.¹¹⁷ Without such rights, women often cannot access the finance needed to buy increasingly expensive inputs or access value chains for their produce. Meanwhile, as crops become less diverse and food becomes less nutritious, women's unpaid work to provide healthy food for themselves and their families has become more burdensome.

Box 2.1 AGROECOLOGY: RECOGNIZING WOMEN'S KNOWLEDGE FOR GENDER EQUALITY AND CLIMATE RESILIENCE

Agroecology is a form of food production that values ecosystems services, fixes carbon and protects biodiversity.¹¹⁸ The basic tenets include combining a diversity of seeds, crops and animal varieties; avoiding harmful agrochemicals that impact the environment and human health; and using botanical herbs and non-toxic methods to treat pests.¹¹⁹

Alongside its ecological benefits, agroecology can hold significant advantages for women farmers.¹²⁰ By valuing a range of work tasks and forms of knowledge, it has the potential to provide them with a diversified role. It is characterized by lower start-up costs and more stable yields to provide less risky and more affordable sources of income. It can reduce the detrimental health impacts of agrochemicals that disproportionately impact women and can improve household self-sufficiency and nutrition through a diverse array of crops and livestock.¹²¹

To harness this potential, agroecology prioritizes small producers, mutual learning, Indigenous knowledge and local ecosystems rather than unsustainable top-down policy prescriptions.¹²² However, the benefits for women are not automatic. If agroecological models do not challenge gender inequalities in access to resources, land and information, they may reinforce inequalities at the household and community levels. Further, the impact on women's workloads may be mixed. On the one hand, growing diversified grains, vegetables and fruits improves nutrition and household self-sufficiency, which can reduce hours and money spent procuring food. On the other hand, agroecological methods can be more labour intensive, and that additional work can fall to women.¹²³

To avoid these pitfalls, women farmers have formed cooperatives and groups to share and reduce their workloads and increase their productivity and incomes.¹²⁴ These groups have also enabled horizontal sharing and learning between farmers, which is an essential part of scaling up agroecology. The campesino-a-campesino (CAC) or farmer-to-farmer methodology, developed in Latin America and the Caribbean, is based on farmer-promoters who use popular education to share knowledge and solutions for common problems with their peers using their own farms as classrooms.¹²⁵ Women farmers have built on this methodology to support their agricultural livelihoods and organized to provide education, promote food security, improve health and prevent gender-based violence for themselves and their broader communities.¹²⁶

Approaches to increasing women's land ownership include strengthening legal rights in relation to inheritance and divorce as well as through joint titling programmes.¹²⁷ While reversing land concentration will be difficult and complex, laws and regulations are needed to protect the remaining collective land rights on which 2.5 billion local and Indigenous people, and especially women, depend.¹²⁸ Land taxes are a way to reduce the further concentration of land and disincentivize speculation and can be used to promote more effective and sustainable land use.¹²⁹ The revenues from such taxes can also be redistributed to support women small-scale farmers to adopt climate-resilient approaches, including through harnessing technology. These range from solar powered irrigation systems to the use of information and communication technology (ICT) to provide expert advice and weather information. A major constraint to women's productivity in agriculture is their unpaid work responsibilities, so investments in childcare services, including in rural areas, and in water, sanitation and energy are essential.¹³⁰ Improvements in climate-resilient irrigation, storage, processing facilities and market spaces as well as roads are also necessary.¹³¹

Redistribution based on progressive taxation can also be used to finance gender-responsive social protection. Countries with social protection systems in place can respond more effectively to crises when they happen.¹³² Such systems can protect against the impacts of extreme weather shocks and slow-onset events, including through scaling-up emergency cash transfers or in-kind food provision in response to disasters. They can prevent poverty and hunger through bolstering women's savings and food security. Social protection can also potentially contribute to transformative, gender-just transitions within food systems, including through agricultural public works or school feeding programmes (see Box 2.2).¹³³

Box 2.2 SCHOOL FEEDING PROGRAMMES: A TRIPLE DIVIDEND FOR FEMINIST CLIMATE JUSTICE

Scaling up social protection will be an essential part of responding to the climate crisis. School feeding programmes can generate wins for tackling global hunger, creating jobs and markets for women workers and farmers and supporting climate-resilient agriculture.

Most countries have school feeding programmes of some kind, which together in 2022 reached 418 million children, around half of all school-age children in the world.¹³⁴ The impacts are far-reaching: Evidence shows that they increase enrolment, attendance and educational outcomes, with these effects especially strong for girls and those in poorer households.¹³⁵ In a global context of widespread hunger and malnutrition, including obesity driven by ultra-processed food, these impacts are impressive in and of themselves. But, with more investment and strategic, gender- and climate-responsive policy design, their potential is even greater still.

The programmes already create employment for women, albeit often under-valued and informal jobs, as chefs and providers of meals in schools. Formalizing these valuable jobs and increasing their pay and status would reap benefits for women and their families.¹³⁶ Women's economic empowerment can also be bolstered by sourcing school food from small-scale producers. By directing government investment away from large multinational food producers, school feeding programmes can promote shorter food value chains and support more sustainable agricultural practices.

This is already happening in some countries. For example, in Côte d'Ivoire, the Integrated Programme for Sustainable School Canteens supports women-led micro-agricultural projects that sell food to school canteens.¹³⁷ In Brazil, where every child in a public school receives a free meal, 30 per cent of federal school funds are reserved for smallholder farmers.¹³⁸ Some programmes are also pioneering efforts to re-introduce greater nutritional value and cultural diversity into diets. For example, The First Nations Development Institute's Native Farm to School Project in North America is advancing Indigenous food sovereignty that "ensure young tribal leaders can experience traditional foodways inside culturally inclusive school food systems".¹³⁹ All in all, cost-benefit studies show that public school food programmes can generate returns as high as \$9 for every \$1 invested.¹⁴⁰

Within a broader frame of social protection, school feeding programmes are a large-scale investment into the care infrastructure, with the potential to provide nutrition for children, create and support decent quality jobs and sustainable livelihoods for women, and support the repair of ecosystems through sustainable agriculture.

Yet, on a global scale, comprehensive coverage of state-provided social protection is severely lacking, particularly in countries facing the most severe impacts of climate change. In a study of 122 countries, only 10 per cent of people were covered by social assistance programmes in high climate-risk countries (compared to 78 per cent coverage in countries with the lowest climate risk).¹⁴¹ Coverage is particularly low for women workers in food systems because their work is often informal or unpaid. In rural areas, programmes are rarely tailored to combat financial, administrative and design barriers that limit women's access.¹⁴² Further, where social protection systems contain a climate component, these are rarely gendersensitive. For example, agricultural crop insurance schemes with very high premiums for weather-related events are usually unaffordable for women.143

As the climate crisis deepens and overlaps with other crises, greater universality and generosity of social protection coverage will be required to support women's food security and livelihoods in food systems.¹⁴⁴

Representation: Making women's voices count in decision-making on food and climate change

The voices of women and other historically marginalized groups are often not heard in food governance, with the result that the people who are affected most by the impact of climate change on food systems have little or no say in how these function. The representation dimension of the feminist climate justice framework demands that this is addressed, from the community up to global policymaking, both as a matter of fairness and to improve accountability for climate action (see Section 3).

Since women's work in food systems has often been invisible, they have not been recognized as key actors whose views and expertise need to be taken into account. This is true in families, local community organizations, trade unions and social movements. The policies of national governments, whether on land reform or agricultural extension services, have often prioritized men on the assumption that women's agricultural work is subordinate. In global governance spaces, where corporate interests are increasingly dominant,¹⁴⁵ the perspectives of Global South social movements, including organizations of women, peasants and Indigenous people, are often shut out of decision-making.

Agribusiness, a sector in which a handful of companies have monopoly control over agricultural inputs, food production, processing, commodity trade and food retail, has invested heavily in influencing global governance spaces on food, including at the United Nations.¹⁴⁶ The result is a privileging of solutions that benefit their businesses over changes needed for food security or environmental sustainability. To amplify the demands of women at the sharp end of the climate crisis, and meet the broader public interest, collective action is needed along with measures to democratize governance spaces.

At the global level, efforts have been made to ensure space for civil society in decision-making, including in the intergovernmental and multistakeholder Committee on Food Security, which was comprehensively reformed in 2009 to include the principle that the people 'most affected' by food insecurity must be prioritized in its deliberations and decisions.¹⁴⁷ The Civil Society and Indigenous People's mechanism, which includes organizations such as La Via Campesina (see Box 2.3), has made strenuous efforts to ensure voice and representation of key constituencies, including a strand devoted to gender equality.¹⁴⁸ However, major power imbalances between Member States, corporate interests and civil society continue to create an uneven playing field.

These power imbalances came to the fore at the United Nations Global Food Systems Summit in 2021, when three United Nations special rapporteurs – on the right to food, on human rights and the environment and on poverty and human rights – expressed concern that because of excessive corporate influence at the expense of broad civil society participation, the Summit was sidelining human rights and failing to promote evidence-based, bottom-up solutions to the food crises facing the world.¹⁴⁹

To address this problem, proposals for structural reform at national and global level focus on the need for regulation and the application of global human rights norms and standards on the practices of corporations. These include proposals by Member States, led by Ecuador, for an international legally binding instrument to regulate the activities of transnational corporations to replace the voluntary approach of the existing guidelines on business and human rights.¹⁵⁰ Women's organizations working in broad coalitions have been active in demanding this new binding approach.¹⁵¹ In addition, as recognition grows of the harm done by industrial agriculture, frameworks used in parts of the United Nations system such as by the World Health Organization (WHO) to curb the undue influence of tobacco companies could provide useful models for ensuring that the food industry's activities in global governance spaces are aligned with the public interest and human rights principles.¹⁵²

The aim of increasing women's agency, voice and representation is not limited to formal decisionmaking spaces. Feminist climate justice demands that women's exclusion from decision-making in households, communities and movements should also be addressed. Participation in collective organizations, networks and cooperatives, which enable them to pool resources and share unpaid care work, give women a stronger negotiating position within families and communities and strengthen their voice and agency.¹⁵³ Furthermore, when women's voices are heard and they are able to participate, the benefits accrue not only to women themselves but to broader outcomes too. Women's participation in collectives is associated with greater productivity and more climate-responsive practices across a range of contexts.¹⁵⁴

Movements for food sovereignty and organizations of peasants and Indigenous people have strongly demanded transformation of food systems, calling out the social injustices and environmental destruction that they cause. Feminist and women's organizations have forged alliances with these groups and carved out distinctive intersectional spaces for collective action to bring about change. The case of La Via Campesina (LVC) is an emblematic example of how change can be achieved through sustained strategic engagement over decades (see Box 2.3).

Repairing harm and addressing the root causes of inequalities and environmental degradation in food systems

The Global South's capacity to self-determine food production has been impaired by policies over many decades that have widened inequalities, have weakened the right to food and that continue to damage the environment. Feminist climate justice demands that these historical injustices are addressed and reparations are made.

Colonialism and imperialism transformed local food systems across continents, whereby massive territories and raw materials were seized to fuel industrialization in Europe, reshaping power over land, displacing Indigenous peoples and their knowledge of ecosystems and food cultures and, in the process, changing gender relations.¹⁵⁵

More recently, in the early 1980s, agricultural liberalization began to be imposed on the Global South through structural adjustment programmes and free trade agreements, which reduced tariffs that protected domestic agriculture and food production. National agricultural research and extension systems were dismantled.¹⁵⁶ These policies were especially damaging to women small-scale farmers and other groups that lacked access to capital and productive resources and so were unable to seize opportunities for new export markets.¹⁵⁷ They also made developing countries dependent on food imports, which exposes them to the effects of food price volatility and increasing levels of hunger and poverty, most recently seen in 2021-2022.¹⁵⁸

Today, the world is navigating the highest level of global public debt in almost 60 years, and more than 70 developing countries are either in default or close to it.¹⁵⁹ The debt crisis is crowding out funding for responses to hunger and climate change. Debt servicing costs are estimated to exceed climate spending in 94 per cent of countries, while only 3 per cent of public climate funding is channelled to food systems.¹⁶⁰

Box 2.3 TAKING COLLECTIVE ACTION ON FOOD SOVEREIGNTY AND CLIMATE JUSTICE: THE CASE OF LA VIA CAMPESINA

La Via Campesina (LVC), founded in 1993, now has 182 member organizations in 81 countries, representing around 200 million poor peasants, small and medium-size farmers and landless rural labourers, making it one of the foremost social movements in the world.¹⁶¹ Its work has spanned global campaigning and local organizing, and it has developed, disseminated and popularized the concept of food sovereignty and the practice of agroecology in order to advance the rights of peasants and protect the environment.

Women and gender-diverse people have worked tirelessly to integrate gender justice into the work of LVC. This has been achieved in three key ways. First, from the early days, it was recognized that women needed autonomous spaces within the organization to develop their demands and analysis. This was achieved through a series of women's working groups and committees, which later developed into a regular Women's Assembly that convened on a regular basis ahead of the organization's global conferences. Second, parity of representation has been prioritized. Women in the movement successfully advocated for a doubling of the movement's International Coordinating Committee, with two elected coordinators per region (one man, one woman), and a new space for the women regional coordinators called the International Women's Articulation. And third, an intersectional gender lens has been used to analyse issues and develop demands.¹⁶²

In recent years, there have also been growing efforts to recognize the role of LGBTIQ+ farmers and peasants within LVC. Separate spaces for collective organizing have been created, such as the LGBT Collective in Brazil, as well as targeted efforts to promote the inclusion of lesbian and trans women in existing women's spaces, as in the case of CONAMURI (National Coordination Organization of Peasant and Indigenous Women) in Paraguay.¹⁶³

As a result, gender equality, including on land rights, representation, ending violence against women and a fair division of productive and reproductive work, is understood within the movement as integral to food sovereignty.¹⁶⁴ Through this work, women and gender-diverse people in LVC have built crossregional solidarity, raised the consciousness of themselves and the broader movement and developed a powerful collective identity within the organization as well as in their personal and working lives. In doing so, they have exemplified intersectionality as a mode of analysis and as a powerful basis on which to build solidarity and collective action.

As well as acknowledging the harms caused by this complex history, reparations requires a global redistribution of resources from the Global North to the Global South to support the building of more equitable, sustainable and climate-resilient food systems that can support greater equality, environmental sustainability and the right to food for all, now and into the future.¹⁶⁵ Building climateresilient food systems will require debt cancellation and for countries in the Global North to meet their climate finance obligations (see Section 3), including to ensure that finance reaches grassroots women's organizations to support their work in building climate resilience.

Policies that need to be reformed include the massive agricultural subsidies in Europe and North America that shut developing country farmers out of global markets.¹⁶⁶ New regulations are needed to prevent land grabbing for biofuels and discredited climate off-setting schemes, a practice to which women are especially vulnerable.¹⁶⁷ Curbs are also needed

Box 2.4 LOOKING AT LOSS AND DAMAGE IN FOOD SYSTEMS THROUGH A GENDER LENS

Loss and damage in food systems over the course of history, and specifically due to the climate crisis, disproportionately affect women and gender-diverse people, especially those facing multiple and intersecting forms of discrimination. Such losses and damages are often unaccounted for because they either impact the informal economy or unpaid care workers or they are intangible in nature, such as emotional or cultural loss and as such not captured by traditional econometric measures.

With regards to gendered 'economic' loss and damage within food systems, they include those impacting women smallholder farmers, for example through crop loss and land dispossession, as well as their lesser access to climate-related insurance or other economic support in the face of such events. They may include damages faced by women working under poor conditions across food chains, which may worsen during extreme weather events, and the impacts of corporate capture of food systems that drain resources and profit away from women workers.

Many more losses are 'non-economic' and are often gendered. For example, women and girls are more likely to experience hunger, malnutrition or diet-related health issues compared to men and boys. The climate crisis is also negatively affecting women's cultural practices around food and access to ancestral food sources. The rise in unpaid care responsibilities in providing food and water during times of climate stress and gender-based violence experienced while procuring food or water are other impacts that need to be taken into account.¹⁶⁹

Outside of the UNFCCC proceedings, some Indigenous and women's groups have looked to alternative legal redress for loss and damage. In 2020, the Inter-American Court of Human Rights ruled for the first time that Argentina had violated the rights of the Indigenous Communities of the Lhaka Honhat (Our Land) Association to a healthy environment, food, water and cultural identity. This was a milestone recognition of Indigenous people's rights, specifically including the right to food. The ruling ordered a number of reparation measures, including action to recover forest resources and ensure access to adequate food and water and setting up a community development fund to redress the harm to cultural identity.¹⁷⁰

on the financialization of food markets, which has led to damaging volatility in the prices of food and fertilizers, creating additional work and insecurity for women in their roles in food provisioning.¹⁶⁸

The new loss and damage fund, agreed at COP 27 and under discussion at COP 28, should also address gendered economic and non-economic losses and damages within food systems as part of broader accountability for climate-induced loss and damage (see Box 2.4). With Section 2 having zoomed into the global food system to illustrate how the four dimensions of the feminist climate justice framework can be applied in practice, Section 3 will focus on the issue of accountability to analyse the barriers to transformative climate action and how they can be dismantled.



BUILDING ACCOUNTABILITY FOR FEMINIST CLIMATE JUSTICE

CHALLENGES TO ACCOUNTABILITY FOR FEMINIST CLIMATE JUSTICE

Feminists are relentless in demanding climate justice, but face many barriers to accountability.



Sources: ° V-Dem 2023b. Data covers the decade from 2012-2022; ^b Mavisakalyan and Tarverdi 2019; ^c UN-Women and UNDESA 2023 (26.7%); ^d IUCN 2021a; ^e WEDO 2023a; ^f UNDP 2022b; ^g Tran and Hanacek 2023; ^h EJAtlas database as of 31 January 2022 (likely to be an underestimate, given gaps and frequent bias in media reporting). As the world nears irreversible climate tipping points, the most pressing question confronting activists, governments and the global community is how to catalyse decisive climate action. An 'all hands on deck'¹⁷¹ approach is needed, but meaningful progress towards meeting the objectives of the 2015 Paris Agreement, which will be assessed in the inaugural Global Stocktake at COP 28, seems more elusive than ever.¹⁷² The gap between the visionary aspirations of feminist climate justice and sluggish government responses raises urgent questions on how to ensure accountability.¹⁷³

At the global level, efforts to curb greenhouse gas emissions are hindered by stark power imbalances between countries in the Global North and Global South, as well as the increasing influence of corporate actors with vested interests in fossil fuels and other environmentally harmful industries. These imbalances have played out in the UNFCCC intergovernmental process, which, notwithstanding some incremental progress on the integration of gender-related language, has been marked by low ambition, slow progress and bitter political conflict.

At the national level, feminists and Indigenous and climate activists are tirelessly advocating for systemic changes to ensure the survival and flourishing of people and planet. A growing number of national climate policies recognize the gendered impacts of climate change. But, overall, accountability for fundamental change is compromised by ongoing dedemocratization and the surge of far right, patriarchal and exclusionary forces. Such forces are often deeply implicated in the spread of misinformation and climate scepticism as well as in hollowing out gender equality and other human rights commitments. They stifle voices demanding justice and transparency and are often hostile to the international cooperation needed to address global problems such as climate change. Without addressing these accountability gaps and bottlenecks, feminist climate justice will remain elusive and out of reach.

Reclaiming and democratizing the state as well as global spaces for cooperation is therefore crucial. While earlier sections explained the 'what' of feminist climate justice and its core policy components, this section focuses on the 'how'. Strengthening accountability for feminist climate justice is essential to implement the entire framework, but in particular it speaks to the domain of representation, which is about removing barriers that prevent women and other historically marginalized groups from having an equal voice and fair representation in deliberations and decision-making processes that affect their lives. Those most affected by climate change must see their needs and rights reflected in climate solutions and be able to monitor the performance of governments, offer feedback and demand explanations from those in power when necessary.

The analysis in this section dives deeper into the political processes involved, sheds light on the causes of accountability gaps and highlights solutions proposed by climate activists, gender equality advocates and affected communities. Accountability for feminist climate justice needs to prioritize intersectionality as a basis for political action and solidarity to ensure that the voices of women and gender-diverse people can be heard and heeded in climate decision-making.

3.1 UNDERSTANDING ACCOUNTABILITY FOR FEMINIST CLIMATE JUSTICE IN THEORY AND PRACTICE

Accountability is a cornerstone of democratic politics.¹⁷⁴ It compels those in power to listen to and answer the claims of all rights holders, particularly those of historically marginalized voices such as Indigenous, Black, low-income or migrant women. Ideally, this process enhances the delivery of public goods, including a clean and healthy environment for all, by assigning well-defined duties and performance
standards to authorities (responsibility); assessing the adequacy of public performance by women and other marginalized groups (answerability); and imposing corrective action or remedy in cases of performance failure and/or rights violations (enforceability).¹⁷⁵

Accountability for feminist climate justice encompasses a wide array of institutional mechanisms, both formal and informal, operating at all levels aimed at ensuring governments are answerable for their actions. It also involves transnational, national and local actors who employ multiple strategies to keep those in power accountable to the populations they are meant to serve. Established vertical and horizontal accountability mechanisms range from international monitoring bodies to national elections, and from parliamentary oversight committees to judicial systems (see Box 3.1). Simultaneously, social accountability from below driven by media and civil society efforts may exert direct or indirect pressure to monitor government action, denounce inaction and propose alternatives (see Figure B3.1.1).¹⁷⁶ Actions at different levels may lead to a dynamic 'spiral,' with the various levels reinforcing each other.¹⁷⁷

However, the current climate accountability system falls far short of this ideal. It is obstructed by unequal power dynamics and is fragmented, with diffuse authority and weak regulations, particularly of transnational corporations.¹⁷⁸ Accountability institutions, mechanisms and processes on climate are far from immune to the cascading effects of today's multiple and overlapping social, economic and political crises. Democratic erosion has not only limited civic space but has also led to alarming levels of distrust in public institutions, mainstream political parties, elites and scientific and expert knowledge, creating fertile ground for the growth of climate denialism and exclusionary and misogynist political narratives and alternatives.¹⁷⁹

As a result of these broad dynamics, three structural cleavages emerge as hindering decisive climate action:

- Global challenges, reduced state capacity: Combating climate change necessitates global cooperation and coordinated state action. It requires powerful democratic States and a reinvigorated multilateral system at a time when the power and legitimacy of both have been seriously curtailed.¹⁸⁰
- Rights-based versus market-centric solutions: Achieving feminist climate justice requires a shift away from prevailing economic models that commodify care and the environment. Yet implementing climate commitments persistently favours market-based solutions and depolitized technical fixes, while leaving corporations largely unchecked and/or poorly regulated.¹⁸¹
- 3. Fragmentation amidst urgency: To avert environmental destruction and biodiversity loss, solidarity across countries, social groups and economic classes is paramount.¹⁸² But colonial legacies, escalating socio-economic inequalities, rising living costs and patriarchal political discourses are deepening fragmentation, pitting disadvantaged groups against each other and hampering collective action.

Overcoming these cleavages is crucial for humanity's survival. It has the potential to shift climate governance away from fragmented and technocratic efforts to more participatory and transformative approaches.

Box 3.1 NAVIGATING COMPLEX ACCOUNTABILITY PATHWAYS

Accountability for feminist climate justice operates at multiple levels. At the global level, it is channeled through the international human rights system, the United Nations, regional intergovernmental bodies and the informal pressure some countries and civil society actors can exert.¹⁸³ International agreements and conventions establish benchmarks against which national governments are periodically evaluated through country reviews and reporting mechanisms. Transnational advocacy networks, such as feminist and environmental movements, have played a pivotal role in building support for global standards on climate change, sustainable development and human and women's rights. These networks help monitor state compliance and build international momentum to support local adoption and implementation across countries.¹⁸⁴

Figure B3.1.1 ACCOUNTABILITY IN PRACTICE: MULTIPLE LEVELS, MECHANISMS AND ACTORS

International oversight mechanisms

Vertical accountability

Climate-related and women's rights international treaty follow up and review mechanisms (National Determined Contributions, National Biodiversity Strategies and Adaptation Plans, CEDAW reports, etc.)

Horizontal accountability

International Court of Justice or other human rights monitoring bodies able to set policy guidelines, review national performance on women's rights and climate commitments, process individual complaints and sanction violations

Transnational advocacy and accountability efforts

Transnational civil society-led initiatives that promote internationally agreed norms on human rights and environmental sustainability, inform regular monitoring through 'shadow' national reports or individual complaints and influence the translation of norms into national policies

National formal accountability institutions

Vertical accountability

Ability of a state's population to aggregate social demands and hold its government accountable (voting, political parties, etc.)

Horizontal accountability

Capacity of state institutions, such as parliaments, courts and oversight bodies, to oversee the government by demanding information, questioning officials and pursuing corrective action

Gender policy outcomes

Social accountability mechanisms and tools aim to improve bottom-up participation and monitoring of public service delivery

Involvement in policy design and implementation through:

- Participatory planning in local climate-related governance bodies
- Participatory expenditure tracking and information campaigns; gender-responsive budgeting
- Community-based monitoring (report cards, social audits, etc.)

Exerting civil society and media pressure to activate institutional tools:

- Social mobilization, civil society campaigns and media exposure
- Shadow reports on service delivery
- Other forms of contentious direct action

At the national level, in democracies, political accountability is best exemplified by free and fair elections in which voters assess the performance of elected officials and penalize underperformers by voting them out. Parliamentary and judicial checks and balances are intended to ensure oversight of executive administrations. If these formal accountability mechanisms are ineffective, civil society and media actors have a significant role to play.¹⁸⁵ In both democratic and non-democratic settings, they may indirectly constrain governments and enhance the effectiveness of other accountability mechanisms. This can be achieved, for instance, by exposing abuses and misconduct in the mass media or by presenting new evidence in court. Alternatively, they may apply direct pressure through street protests, advocacy or media campaigns and/or make use of government-led 'invited spaces of participation'¹⁸⁶ and bottom-up monitoring tools to strengthen citizen's voices in reviewing the quality and delivery of policies.

When faced with regressive or slow moving national governments, local activists often find limited avenues for influencing national decisions and may turn to transnational allies who are better positioned to denounce human rights abuses against environmental activists or Indigenous communities – a process often referred to as a 'boomerang effect'.¹⁸⁷ This approach can be safer in contexts where there is impunity for violence against activists (see Section 3.2).¹⁸⁸

Yet synergies between global and national accountability are not automatic. All too often, grassroots women's groups do not have the resources to participate in regional or global climate advocacy, and their voices are largely excluded from COPs and other key global processes. In turn, justice claims at one level can be easily disregarded at another. A case in point is governments that champion international accountability by celebrating the creation of the Loss and Damage Fund, for example, but who fail to redress historical injustices against local communities residing in mineral-rich regions within their own territories.¹⁸⁹

3.2 BARRIERS TO ACCOUNTABILITY FOR FEMINIST CLIMATE JUSTICE

The possibility of accountability for feminist climate action is up against destabilizing economic and political crises. These crises erode the efficacy of oversight mechanisms and intensify the formidable obstacles faced by advocates. The result is a climate accountability landscape that is becoming increasingly complex to navigate for those striving to hold institutions accountable for the rights of women, girls and gender-diverse people.

Political and economic forces are hampering climate accountability mechanisms

At global level, the main climate accountability mechanism is the intergovernmental UNFCCC process, which sets international goals to be collectively pursued by all 198 parties to the convention and regularly reviews country compliance with mitigation targets through national reporting mechanisms. Building on the pioneering work of gender advocates within environmental organizations, transnational feminist networks, including the Women and Gender Constituency (WGC), have played a pivotal role in incorporating gender-related language into at least 120 UNFCCC decisions, particularly since the establishment of the Lima Work Programme on Gender in 2014.¹⁹⁰ They have also promoted the inclusion of women in global climate negotiations: at COP 27 in 2022, women accounted for 35 per cent of Party delegations.¹⁹¹

However, feminists' social justice claims and the more transformative demands of activists – many of them voiced by the United Nations Secretary-General himself – have struggled to gain traction in these spaces.¹⁹² Civil society activists, including Global South grassroots feminists, could play a potentially transformative role in oversight and accountability but have found themselves shut out of diplomatic negotiations and relegated to the fringes of climate decision-making at global level. Since 2015, opportunities for informal interactions between delegations and civil society representatives at UNFCCC COPs have dwindled.¹⁹³

More broadly, unlike the United Nations General Assembly, UNFCCC procedural rules have never been adopted, so the negotiations proceed by consensus, giving de facto veto power to any party involved.¹⁹⁴ As a result, climate negotiations have become overly technocratic and male-dominated, with constant struggles over technical and procedural details, resulting in low ambition and limited public or civil society oversight, particularly by gender equality advocates.¹⁹⁵

Against a backdrop of multiple crises, progress in the UNFCCC space is slow and contentious, held back by tensions and power imbalances between countries, particularly between high emitters and those most vulnerable to climate risks, which have been leveraged to stifle ambitions and weaken accountability.¹⁹⁶ Unfulfilled promises, particularly on climate finance, have deepened these divides, leading to regular stand-offs and stalemates on questions of justice and responsibility, including on loss and damage, among others.¹⁹⁷

The possibility of transformative change and accountability for climate action also faces well organized and generously funded resistance from non-state actors, including those with vested interests in environmentally harmful industries. It is now well documented that some fossil fuel companies, including the oil, gas and coal industries, and high-carbon sectors such as airlines and car manufacturers have long been aware of the harm these industries have caused to people and planet and, rather than be an effective part of the solution, have chosen to invest heavily in lobbying efforts to obstruct or delay coordinated climate action.¹⁹⁸ These efforts mirror the behaviour of agrifood corporations in global food governance spaces (see Section 2.2).

While feminists and other grassroots activists are shut out of the negotiations, corporate lobbyists have enjoyed increased presence within national delegations at UNFCCC COPs, emboldening efforts to block climate action.¹⁹⁹ Obstructive tactics range from attempting to stop the 1997 Kyoto Protocol, the first international agreement to cut greenhouse gas emissions, to more recent calls for financial compensation of oil companies for economic losses faced as a result of climate policies.²⁰⁰ Diplomatic stalling and behind-the-scenes lobbying are complemented by broader public opinion-influencing campaigns. These campaigns mislead the public on the science that proves that climate change is anthropogenic.²⁰¹ 'Greenwashing' techniques are employed to exaggerate companies' environmental performance and to hide the impact of their operations on local and Indigenous communities and women environmental defenders.²⁰² Taken together, these actions are a major brake on progress and accountability for feminist climate justice.

At the national level, where climate policy priorities are defined and accountability can be demanded (see Box 3.1), gender concerns – thanks to the efforts of advocates – have gained some prominence in national strategic documents such as National Determined Contributions (NDCs) and National Adaptation Plans (NAPs), with some countries developing their own gender action plans.²⁰³ However, this promising, if incremental, progress is weakened by democratic erosion, which is degrading the checks and balances, including judicial independence and autonomous civil society spaces that are meant to make national powerholders answerable to the communities they are entrusted to serve.

The global state of democracy is a cause for major concern, with the average level of democracy in 2022 reverting to a level not seen since 1986 - an era marked by the Cold War and the Berlin Wall.²⁰⁴ Today, 42 countries have embarked on authoritarian trajectories, with nearly three guarters (72 per cent) of the world's population living under autocratic rule.²⁰⁵ Indeed, between 2012 and 2022, numerous countries have seen declines in essential aspects of democratic accountability, including media freedom (47 countries), civil society freedom (37), women's rights to open dialogue (34), the conduct of free and fair elections (30) and the oversight of executive powers (25).²⁰⁶ The national accountability pathways that feminists rely on to champion climate and gender justice are increasingly under threat.

Meanwhile, the ability of States to effectively respond to climate change and its disproportionate impact on women and girls has been hobbled by the policies of international financial institutions that are locked into old recipes of enforcing fiscal austerity measures that prevent countries from accessing the finance they need to invest in climate adaptation.²⁰⁷ Indeed, the confluence of debt, austerity and climate crises has created a vicious cycle that undermines the capacity of many low- and middle-income countries to recover from disasters, strengthen climate resilience, including in food production, and invest in critical social protection and public services to protect the rights of present and future generations of women and girls (see Section 2).²⁰⁸

Domestic financing challenges are exacerbated by inadequate global climate funding.²⁰⁹ In 2009, donor

countries promised \$100 billion in funding per year to finance climate adaptation and mitigation in lowand middle-income countries, a pledge that has still not been fulfilled. The claim that \$83.3 billion had been achieved in 2020 has been called into question by shadow reports that put the real value at closer to \$24.5 billion.²¹⁰ Moreover, three guarters of funding was provided through loans rather than grants, exacerbating the debt burdens of countries in the Global South²¹¹ at a time when more than 70 developing countries are either in dire need of debt relief or already in default.²¹² Very little funding goes to grassroots initiatives and women's organizations. Gender assessments of the main climate funds find that gender mainstreaming efforts have fallen short due to lack of dedicated funding and capacity to measure impact on the ground, lack of expertise and a failure to adequately consult with stakeholders and beneficiaries.²¹³

Socio-economic disparities are exacerbated by fiscal austerity measures and lack of investment in public services and climate resilience, which in turn erode trust in mainstream politics and bolster support for far-right political outsiders.²¹⁴ These exclusionary forces, gaining prominence and strength across regions, weave a compelling narrative that includes backlash against gender equality and hostility to both outsiders and international cooperation, diminishing the impetus for national action on both women's rights and climate change.²¹⁵ In contexts where such forces hold sway, those in power voice critiques against national or global 'elites', cast doubt on the veracity of climate change and advocate for a return to 'traditional family values'.²¹⁶ Paradoxically, the policies advanced by their administrations, including reductions in social spending and the weakening of corporate regulations and environmental protections, primarily serve to consolidate, rather than erode, elite power.²¹⁷ These policies also effectively shift the responsibility for caring for people and the planet back to the private sphere, placing a disproportionate burden on women while undermining public accountability and the imperative of collective solutions in the process. ²¹⁸

Barriers to demanding accountability from below

The institutional challenges described above are compounded by the barriers that advocates face when demanding accountability for feminist climate justice. Historically, feminists have relied on States' universal human rights commitments as a key pathway for accountability. But international climate agreements are weak on human rights. Although the 2022 Kunming-Montreal Global **Biodiversity Framework includes specific commitments** on ensuring protections for environmental human rights defenders (target 22),²¹⁹ neither the 2015 Paris Agreement nor the most recent COP 26 or COP 27 outcomes acknowledge human rights as a fundamental pillar for climate action, despite abundant evidence on the negative impact of climate change on the enjoyment of human rights.²²⁰

Furthermore, while a powerful oversight mechanism, the human rights system has been slow to elaborate the connections between human rights and climate change. For example, it was only in 2022 that the right to a clean, healthy and sustainable environment was enshrined by a United Nations General Assembly resolution.²²¹ It explicitly acknowledges that climate change, pollution and environmental degradation impede the fulfillment and enjoyment of a range of human rights, with certain groups - including women and girls – particularly vulnerable.²²² In fact, the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW) was ahead of the curve in 2018 with its General Recommendation No. 37 on gender-related dimensions of disaster risk reduction in the context of climate change, which outlines a clear set of obligations for States Parties to apply in the context of climate change related to nondiscrimination, access to justice, participation and data collection.²²³ It will be important for other treaty bodies to follow the lead of the CEDAW, as indeed the Committee on the Rights of the Child has done in 2023, in clarifying the obligations of Member States in the context of climate change, and for human rights advocates to push for their full implementation.²²⁴

Accountability from below has also been limited by the weakness of legal obligations of States to hold non-state corporate actors answerable for their operations, including beyond national boundaries.²²⁵ In addressing issues related to the extraterritorial obligations of transnational companies, women's organizations have collaborated with other civil society actors and like-minded States to establish regulations. This includes the adoption of the United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights and, as yet unsuccessful, efforts towards a binding United Nations treaty to regulate the activities of transnational corporations under human rights law (see Section 2).²²⁶

As civic spaces continue to contract and formal accountability mechanisms falter, some movements and campaigns, often with women and feminists at their helm, are turning to direct action as a means to seek redress for climate injustices. ²²⁷ Afrodescendant and Indigenous women in both the Global South and North are standing on picket lines and creating roadblocks to impede corporate landgrabs, the construction of oil pipelines, mining operations and other large-scale infrastructure projects that threaten their livelihoods and communities. ²²⁸

As of January 2022, there were at least 3,545 socioenvironmental conflicts worldwide. ²²⁹ Almost a quarter of these conflicts, comprising 842 cases, visibly involved women environmental defenders – likely to be an underestimate, given gaps and frequent bias in media reporting.²³⁰

As women step up to defend the environment and their communities, they face persecution and violence. A gender analysis of the Environmental Justice Atlas (EJAtlas), a global database of socio-environmental conflicts developed in partnership with activists and academics, reveals that as of January 2022, 81 documented conflicts involving women environmental defenders led to their assassinations (see Figure 3.1).²³¹

These defenders paid the ultimate price for their unwavering pursuit of justice. Hotspots for violence



Figure 3.1 REPORTED SOCIO-ENVIRONMENTAL CONFLICTS THAT RESULTED IN THE MURDER OF WOMEN ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENDERS AROUND THE WORLD, AS OF JANUARY 2022

© OpenStreetMap

Number of WED murders 01 2 3 4 5

Source: Tran and Hanaček 2023, Figure 1 and Table 1, p. 4146, based on a gender analysis of 3,545 cases contained in the Environmental Justice Atlas (EJAtlas) global database as of 31 January 2022, accessible at https://ejatlas.org/. For an overview of EJAtlas and its methodology see: Temper et al. 2015. Notes: Data from the EJAtlas database as of 31 January 2022 show 81 conflicts spanning 29 countries in which 97 women environmental defenders (WEDs) were murdered for their advocacy. The size of each dot corresponds to the number of WEDs murdered in that case. The sample population of conflicts is inherently limited to the information publicly available. The number of conflicts in which WEDs were killed is also likely to be higher due to censorship and under-reporting. For instance, according to Tran and Hanaček 2023, more information is available from Latin America and Southeast Asia than from Africa.

against women environmental defenders are Latin America, Asia and, to a lesser extent, Africa. Across regions, protests about the use of agricultural land and other natural resources (such as forests), mining and large-scale industrial plants have attracted the most extreme violence.²³² Accountability for feminist climate justice will be meaningless without concerted efforts to end impunity for often deadly violence against women human rights defenders.

3.3 TOWARDS ACCOUNTABILITY FOR FEMINIST CLIMATE JUSTICE

Given the gaps and bottlenecks outlined above, three avenues to move towards accountability for feminist climate justice emerge: Reinvigorating multilateralism and democratic institutions, inclusive of women; promoting coalitions and protecting civic space; and enhancing bottom-up monitoring. In each case, these approaches support the implementation of the representation domain of the feminist climate justice framework to ensure the rights and interests of women and other marginalized groups are central to defining climate policy solutions. They also speak to other domains of the framework, particularly on the recognition of diverse knowledge. While the changes needed will not materialize overnight, this section sheds light on some promising examples that provide glimmers of hope to be carefully nurtured and supported.

Reinvigorating multilateralism and democratic institutions, inclusive of women

The foundations for accountability for feminist climate justice should be laid at the national and local levels, but global institutions and processes also need to be transformed. To stop what the United Nations Secretary-General has described as the "suicidal war against nature",²³³ the current fragmentation in multilateral cooperation must be overcome to articulate more ambitious goals based on human rights, devise effective regulatory frameworks for global environmental governance and leverage sustainable financing.²³⁴

The Secretary-General has recently joined a growing chorus of calls for reform of the international financial architecture to ensure it is fit for purpose for the formidable challenges the world faces, notably climate change. Proposed reforms include changes to voting rights and decision-making rules to make them more democratic and representative of countries in the Global South and to strive for gender-balanced representation in governance structures. He has also called for delinking access to resources from outdated and biased quotas that favour wealthier nations. This would apply to the allocation of special drawing rights, for example, which should provide vital liquidity for countries in the event of disasters.²³⁵

Feminists will also be looking to the multilateral climate funds for a step change in their gender mainstreaming efforts to ensure that climate financing is reaching the grassroots women's organizations who are leading local adaptation and mitigation efforts.

Other proposals on the table to strengthen democratic accountability for climate action have come from the United Nation's High-Level Board on Effective Multilateralism. In light of the recently recognized right to a clean, healthy and sustainable environment, they have suggested that Member States could identify new monitoring and accountability mechanisms, with a mandate to investigate and report publicly on environmental violations.²³⁶

At the national level, insufficient progress on climate mitigation and adaptation is sometimes blamed on slow processes of democratic governance and accountability. But the answer is "more democracy, not less".²³⁷ Feminist climate justice demands inclusive planning and implementation, which is pivotal in preventing maladaptation and facilitating climateresilient development.²³⁸

Deliberative democratic spaces strive to promote egalitarian, evidence-based debates, free from vested interests, which can generate collective decisions and policy alternatives tailored to specific contexts.²³⁹ Some countries, including France, Ireland and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, have established people's assemblies on climate change to boost democratic deliberation about how societies should respond to the climate crisis. Along similar lines, a global citizens' assembly presented their collective demands at COP 26 in 2021.²⁴⁰ Such spaces can help to demystify climate science, counter misand disinformation and engage people in some of the policy dilemmas and trade-offs at stake. While not without limitations, these processes amplify different voices from the usual policy influencers such as business lobbies, trade unions and nongovernmental organizations (NGOs). Under the right conditions, boosting such 'deliberative mini-publics', alongside other participatory approaches, may help counter power imbalances while garnering public support for climate and environmental policies.²⁴¹

For deliberations at all levels to be truly democratic, they must be inclusive of women and other historically marginalized groups. Increasing women's representation in local, national and global climate governance is a matter of fairness in and of itself, but it also correlates with positive policy outcomes. For example, at the local level, women's participation in forestry institutions has led to improvements in conservation, welfare outcomes and women's empowerment in India and Nepal.²⁴² At the national level, women's representation in parliaments has been linked to the implementation of more stringent climate change policies.²⁴³ At the global level, transnational feminist advocacy networks have played a pivotal role in advancing gender balance within all UNFCCC delegations, boards and bodies, which bolstered support for the adoption of the UNFCCC Gender Action Plan in 2014.244

However, women's presence in these spaces does not guarantee their policy preferences are taken up. Substantive representation also necessitates strengthening women's bargaining power and oversight capacity within those structures. This can be achieved both through mechanisms that monitor policymakers' performance and through external pressure from civil society. ²⁴⁵ National gender machineries and women's ministries could play an important role in linking policymakers with civil society actors, but so far they have been marginalized from climate policymaking. The number of countries acknowledging gender concerns in their latest NDCs increased significantly. But, as of 2021, only a quarter of the 94 countries reviewed considered national gender machineries integral to their climate change governance structures, and only 37 countries conducted comprehensive consultations to define the core climate and gender considerations within their NDCs.²⁴⁶

This points to the imperative for feminists in different spaces to organize and build coalitions as a basis to demand accountability.

Promoting coalitions and protecting civic space

Feminist climate justice requires broad-based counter-hegemonic coalitions that can span all parties from diplomatic elites to grassroots activists, and cut across institutional spaces and policy issues, to set ambitious egalitarian and ecological goals.

With significant civil society support, proenvironment coalitions of States have bridged longstanding geopolitical divisions to elevate mitigation ambitions in climate negotiations. For instance, the High Ambition Coalition (HAC) successfully facilitated the creation of the 2015 Paris Agreement and has re-emerged during subsequent COPs to counter negotiation standstills.²⁴⁷ Such broad coalitions of new actors can also encourage less powerful countries or civil society actors to pursue innovative solutions to accountability gaps. In 2023, for example, 132 Member States, led by Vanuatu and supported by student legal activism, successfully sought an advisory opinion from the International Court of Justice (ICJ) on international law concerning climate change (with a particular emphasis on human rights and intergenerational equity), which is expected by the end of 2024. While not binding, advisory opinions carry great legal weight and moral authority and provide clarity on the development of international law.²⁴⁸

Similarly, feminist movements have been most effective when they have formed coalitions that bring together Indigenous groups and environmental movements to co-create platforms for justice in the face of racist violence, land dispossession, destruction of the natural environment and economic deprivation. One prominent example is the Mesoamerican Initiative of Women Human Rights Defenders, which operates in a subregion where environmental and human rights defenders face significant threats. This collective has united over 2,250 activists and 300 organizations from diverse social movements and territories in El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, Mexico and Nicaragua to develop a regional, holistic and culturally sensitive response to violence against women's human rights defenders, which puts the basic principle of care – for one's self and for the collective – at the heart of activism.²⁴⁹

The collective has played a pivotal role in informing and promoting the 2018 Regional Agreement on Access to Information, Public Participation and Justice in Environmental Matters in Latin America and the Caribbean.²⁵⁰ This landmark binding agreement, which was adopted in Escazú, Costa Rica, and entered into force on 22 April 2021, currently has 15 States Parties and is the first to include explicit provisions to prevent the criminalization of environmental human rights defenders.²⁵¹ In this case, demands by a grassroots network for accountability influenced a regional agreement, which now provides protection for civil society actors, demonstrating the spiralling effects from local to national to international and vice versa, as shown in Figure B3.1.1. Delivering on the promise of such agreements requires financial resources for the civil society organizations that connect advocacy at those different levels, as well as concerted political will on the part of governments to strengthen the rule of law and eradicate impunity.

This example also shows that strengthening accountability for feminist climate justice requires a vibrant, diverse and progressive civil society. This plays a dual role: collaborating with capable state actors to oversee and enhance policy design and implementation, while simultaneously carving out an autonomous civic space to critically assess state practices, challenge vested interests, expose harm and offer alternative solutions. Empirical evidence underscores the significance of civil society engagement for accountability. Climate governance institutions gain legitimacy when they are inclusive of civil society, and external pressure from advocacy networks can make institutional accountability mechanisms more effective.²⁵² Comparative research across contexts consistently finds that peaceful protests are particularly potent in challenging systems that perpetuate environmental degradation and exacerbate inequalities.²⁵³ Nonviolence reinforces the legitimacy of civil society's demands and places violence by state and other nonstate actors into stark relief. When it comes to protests against environmentally contentious projects, early mobilization is key because it significantly enhances the likelihood of the project being cancelled - as attested by a recent global study of more than 2,700 socio-environmental conflicts.²⁵⁴ This is especially true when coupled with the use of multiple advocacy strategies, including litigation, a combination that has been successfully used by Indigenous communities in a range of contexts.²⁵⁵

Qualitative studies complement this finding and, even in cases where favourable court decisions were not fully enforced, the litigation process itself can yield important political advances. The legal activism of Women Affected by Mining United in Action (WAMUA) in South Africa against exploitative mining practices, a legacy of Apartheid rule, is a case in point. After the democratic transition, and enabled by a conducive constitutional and legal framework, WAMUA sought to rectify the exclusion of mining-affected communities from consultative processes. The Mining Charter was introduced in 2004 to address longstanding inequalities in the industry, primarily involving government, business and union representatives, leaving mining communities marginalized. Under the "nothing about us without us" banner, WAMUA used legal strategies to demand the active participation of women from mining-affected communities in shaping the Charter, to address environmental harms, workers' rights and a gender equitable distribution of employment opportunities.²⁵⁶ Though dissatisfied with the extent of their involvement in the subsequent Charter

review process, WAMUA's legal campaigns led to coalition building with community organizations and raised awareness of industry challenges, bolstering their capacity for future mobilization efforts.²⁵⁷

Enhancing bottom-up monitoring

Monitoring policy design and implementation is another important pathway to achieve accountability for feminist climate justice. Key national policy instruments, such as NDCs, NAPs, National Biodiversity Strategies and Action Plans (NBSAPs), the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification's (UNCCD) National Action Programmes, gender and climate action plans and CEDAW country reports, offer opportunities to evaluate whether countries are translating their commitments into concrete actions and adequately mainstreaming gender equality.

Social accountability tools such as citizen scorecards or participatory budgeting can help uncover systemic failures requiring corrective action and can also build community ownership and grassroots policy oversight.²⁵⁸ For instance, the emerging adoption of gender-responsive climate budgeting in various low- and middle-income countries, often referred to as "double-mainstreaming",²⁵⁹ is a nascent but important trend. These tools help identify ways to allocate resources to address gender-specific risks and vulnerabilities at both local and national levels, including by supporting the diversification of women's livelihoods impacted by environmental degradation. Countries in the Asia-Pacific region, such as Bangladesh, Indonesia and Nepal, have started budget tagging in key gender and climate policy institutions.²⁶⁰ Meanwhile, countries in Africa such as Benin and Rwanda are implementing

monitoring systems that track the integration and impact of gender mainstreaming across government agencies, including on climate.²⁶¹ The effective use of gender-responsive climate budgeting necessitates a unified government approach based on robust national frameworks, leadership to coordinate efforts across government institutions and transparent and participatory systems that allow for public scrutiny of budget planning and priorities.²⁶²

Thus far, effective climate policy monitoring from a gender perspective has proven challenging due to a lack of comparable data on policy actions. There are some useful analyses emerging, however. For example, a recent study that analysed the latest round of NDCs from 89 countries found that only six countries recognized women's heightened risk of gender-based violence in the context of climate change.²⁶³ Likewise, novel research on unpaid care in NDCs shows that 12 countries out of 133 studied acknowledged women's increased unpaid care demands in the context of climate change, with only Cambodia committing to policy action to reduce the time women spend on unpaid work related to energy, agriculture and water access (see Figure B3.2.1).²⁶⁴ But global policy assessments that look at country performance across different gender equality thematic areas – spanning women's voice, agency and participation; economic security; unpaid care work; and gender-based violence and discrimination - are not readily available. To address this, UN-Women, working with IUCN and the Kaschak Institute for Social Justice for Women and Girls at Binghamton University, plans to develop a new tool, the gender equality and climate policy scorecard, to monitor gender-responsive national climate policies more systematically (see Box 3.2).

Box 3.2: GENDER EQUALITY AND CLIMATE POLICY SCORECARD

Thanks to decades of feminist mobilization in environmental policymaking arenas, there is an emerging consensus on the necessity for gender-responsive climate action.²⁶⁵ Nevertheless, there is a lack of clarity on what exactly this entails, and comparative evidence on the adoption of gender-responsive national measures in mitigation, adaptation and disaster response is, at best, patchy.

Building on existing attempts to track gender mainstreaming in national climate policies,²⁶⁶ along with experience of developing the COVID-19 Global Gender Response Tracker,²⁶⁷ UN-Women is working with IUCN and the Kaschak Institute for Social Justice for Women and Girls to develop the gender equality and climate policy scorecard, which will serve as a global monitoring tool for evaluating country progress on integrating gender equality into national climate policy action.

Its innovative analysis will assess policy commitments across four gender equality dimensions – women's participation in decision-making, unpaid care responsibilities, violence against women and women's economic security – and incorporate evidence on implementation.

To date, the academic literature has underscored how gender mainstreaming in climate policies has often been reduced to a superficial 'tick-box' exercise, missing its transformative potential.²⁶⁸ To go beyond this minimalist approach, the scorecard will appraise the extent to which a set of gender inequalities, clearly exacerbated by climate change, are both acknowledged as part of the policy problem and addressed through policy actions. The four gender inequalities to be monitored are clustered around three core pillars of feminist climate justice: parity in representation, recognition of women's rights and labour and equal distribution of economic resources, as shown in Figure B3.2.1. Under each dimension, the scorecard aims to answer the following justice-related questions:

- Representation: Do climate policies seek to strengthen women's participation in climate decisionmaking and fully incorporate their voices and concerns?
- Recognition: Do climate policies seek to adequately recognize women's labour and rights by supporting unpaid care and addressing gender-based violence and discrimination in the context of a changing climate?
- Redistribution: Do climate policies seek to redress women's unequal access to economic resources and opportunities through climate action?

Because the scorecard exclusively tracks national climate policy actions, the fourth pillar of feminist climate justice, reparations – which primarily requires international action – is regarded as a facilitating factor rather than a component suitable for national-level monitoring.

The scorecard aims to reveal gaps as well as good practices to encourage policy learning and uptake across settings, as the policy examples in Figure B3.2.1. illustrate. Ultimately, it will provide a global snapshot of where the world stands on integrating gender into climate action and act as an accountability tool for monitoring progress going forward.

Figure B3.2.1 UNPACKING THE GENDER EQUALITY AND CLIMATE POLICY SCORECARD



Sources: Federal Government of Nigeria 2021, p. 28; Federal Ministry of Environment, Nigeria 2020; Government of Guatemala 2021; Government of Guatemala 2022, p. 67; Kingdom of Cambodia 2020; Ministry of Climate Change and Environmental Coordination, Pakistan 2023.

Addressing climate change demands global cooperation and coordinated state action, which are both in short supply. It calls for rights-based approaches at a time when unchecked corporate power is in the ascendency. More than anything, it requires solidarity at a time of growing inequalities and distrust. In the face of these formidable obstacles, this section has identified some pathways to accountability, including meaningful representation of women at all levels, bolstering coalitions that cut across divides, the use of grassroots monitoring tools and the protection of civic space for environmental and human rights defenders. Elevating and nurturing these approaches can bring the vision of feminist climate justice closer to reality.

CONCLUSION

The fact that the world is facing a polycrisis is fast becoming a cliché. But it bears repeating that the multiple, overlapping and reinforcing crises that are engulfing the world are unprecedented in scope and complexity and demand a radical change of course.

The rapidly heating planet stands out as the most globally existential crisis, and one that also reinforces and exacerbates all the other challenges facing the world today. The vast inequalities between and within countries will only deepen if large areas of the planet become uninhabitable; racist, misogynist and nationalist sentiments will be even harder to push back as economic conditions deteriorate; and conflict and violence will worsen if resources continue to be hoarded and become scarcer as the climate changes. Those who have historically endured marginalization and discrimination on the basis of class, gender and/ or race or ethnicity are looking at a bleaker future as they bear the brunt of these interlinked crises.

This paper articulates an alternative vision of a world in which everyone can enjoy the full range of their human rights, free from discrimination, and flourish on a planet that is healthy and sustainable. This means prioritizing the well-being of all people and the planet over profits and elite power. Recognizing the interdependence of humans and nature, it entails leaving behind economies based on extraction and pollution and embracing ones based on care and regeneration.

The feminist climate justice framework can move the world closer to achieving this vision. Based on four dimensions, it aims to create a world where women's rights, labour and knowledge are accorded their rightful value (recognition), where economic resources and opportunities are equitably shared (redistribution) and where collective decisions are made with the inclusion of all voices (representation). It is a world that acknowledges historical injustices and is accountable to past and future generations (reparation).

As well as unpacking these four dimensions, this paper has applied the framework to the global food system, which epitomises the problems the world faces: the exploitation of women's labour; the concentration of power and resources in few hands; and destructive production systems that are eroding ecosystems while failing to support the realization of human rights. Alternatives require channelling support to solutions pioneered at local level, often by women, such as agroecology and other climate-resilient agricultural approaches; building on and reorienting innovative approaches such as school feeding programmes to support women's environmentally sustainable food production; and cancelling debt so that countries can invest in domestic food security for the long term.

So how do we get there? For gender-just solutions to the climate crisis to go to scale, the accountability pathways that environmental, Indigenous and feminist activists are using to demand answers and action from those in power need to be unblocked. The paper highlights some promising avenues to achieve this at local, national and global levels. Progressive movements for change, especially coalitions that bring together actors from across diverse social movements, need civic space and guarantees of safety to do their vital work. Against the global trend towards autocracy, democratic politics needs to be deepened, including by strengthening women's substantive representation at all levels - in forestry councils, in local governance, in environment ministries and in UNFCCC delegations. And the current fragmentation in multilateral cooperation must be overcome to raise policy ambitions, leverage sustainable financing and enforce regulatory frameworks for global environmental governance.

This paper outlining the feminist climate justice framework is the first instalment of UN-Women's flagship report, *Progress of the World's Women*, which in 2025 will focus on gender equality in the age of climate crisis. Going forward, we will deepen and broaden our engagement with interdisciplinary feminist researchers, data experts, policymakers and other partners to identify strategies for feminist climate justice across sectors and develop tools to promote greater accountability for gender-responsive climate policies.

ENDNOTES

Introduction

- 1 UNEP 2022a; IPCC 2022a.
- 2 World Meteorological Organization 2023.
- 3 IPBES 2019.
- 4 Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity 2020.
- 5 Resurreccion 2022.
- 6 Sultana 2022a; Cohn and Duncanson 2023.
- 7 Resurreccion 2022; Fraser 2022.
- 8 Hickel 2020.
- 9 Karlsson et al. 2023.
- 10 IPCC 2022b, p. 2700.
- 11 UNDRR 2022
- 12 UN CEDAW 2018.
- 13 MacGregor et al. 2022, p. 129; UN-Women and UN-Water undated.
- 14 UN-Women and UNDESA 2023.
- 15 UN-Women 2020.
- 16 UN-Women and UN-Water undated.
- 17 Fruttero et al. 2023.
- 18 UN ECOSOC 2020.
- 19 Jaldi 2023.
- 20 Fraser 2022.
- 21 Newell 2022.
- 22 Sultana 2021.
- 23 FAO 2023a.
- 24 See the acknowledgements for a list of participants in both meetings.

Section 1

- 25 Fraser 1995; Fraser 2005.
- 26 IPCC 2022c.
- 27 Almassi 2022; Sultana 2021; Sultana 2022b.
- 28 Tronto 1993; Tronto 2013; Williams 2021.
- 29 Baldwin 1962.
- 30 Fredman and Goldblatt 2015.
- 31 Fraser 1995.
- 32 Duerto Valero and Kaul 2023; Castañeda and Sabater 2020; Zhu et al. 2023.
- 33 Bullard 1990.
- 34 Nelson 1997.
- 35 United Nations 2023a; United Nations General Assembly 2021a.
- 36 Carbon Brief 2021.
- 37 Gaard 2015; Seager 2019.
- 38 Hochsprung Miguel et al. 2022; Jasanoff 2005.
- 39 Maladaptation refers to actions intended to reduce the impacts of climate change that create more risk and vulnerability instead. See: Schipper 2020; IPCC 2022c.
- 40 Duerto Valero and Kaul 2023.
- 41 UN-Women undated; UN-Women 2022.
- 42 United Nations Climate Change 2023.
- 43 Newell 2022.
- 44 Ibid., p. 917; Chancel 2022.
- 45 Tuana 2019; Goldsmith and Bell 2022.
- 46 Sultana 2022b.
- 47 Newell 2022, p. 918.
- 48 GI-ESCR 2020.

50

- 49 GI-ESCR 2021.
- 50 UN-Women 2021a; WBG 2020.
- 51 Fraser 2005.
- 52 IUCN 2021a.
- 53 UN-Women 2021b; UN-Women and UNDP 2022.
- 54 UNFCC 2020a; UNCBD 2022; UNCCD 2018.
- 55 WEDO 2023a.
- 56 GI-ESCR 2020.
- 57 Tran and Hanaček 2023; Tran 2021.
- 58 For an example of the use of the courts for accountability on climate commitments, see Box 4.3 in UN-Women 2021a, p. 61.
- 59 Fraser 2005.
- 60 IPCC 2022a.
- 61 Fraser 2021; Global Forest Coalition 2022.
- 62 Hickel 2020. 'Excess emissions' refers to national contributions to cumulative CO₂ emissions in excess of the planetary boundary of 350ppm atmospheric CO₂ concentration.
- 63 United Nations 1992.
- 64 Latindadd 2023.
- 65 UN Global Crisis Response Group 2023.
- 66 WGC 2022; African Feminist Taskforce 2022.
- 67 Mechler et al. 2018; WEDO 2022.
- 68 Wyns 2023; 143 US Organizations 2022.
- 69 Táíwò 2022; People's Agreement of Cochabamba 2010; Chinweizu 1993; Asia Pacific Forum on Women, Law and Development et al. 2022.
- 70 See, for example, Greenfield 2023.
- 71 Boyd et al. 2021; Simpson 2022; Loss and Damage Youth Coalition 2022.
- 72 Forsyth et al. 2022.
- 73 Wijenayake 2020; Chakma et al. 2022.
- 74 Tschakert et al. 2017.
- 75 Táíwò 2021.
- 76 Almassi 2022.
- 77 Bhadani 2021.
- 78 Tronto 2013.
- 79 Williams 2021.
- 80 UNRISD 2022.
- 81 Harcourt et al. 2023.
- 82 Gebara 2022.
- 83 For example, Nelson and Power 2018; Bauhard and Harcourth 2019; Reksten and Floro 2021.
- 84 Bourgault 2023.
- 85 Nelson and Power 2018; Barca et al. 2023.
- 86 Williams 2023.
- 87 Williams 2021; Sultana 2022b.
- 88 Williams 2021.
- 89 Crenshaw 1989.
- 90 Williams 2023; Amorim-Maia et al. 2022; Sultana 2022b.
- 91 Ewig 2018; Lykke 2011.
- 92 Williams 2021.

Section 2

93 UN News 2023.

WBCSD 2023.

- 94 FAO 2022.
- 95 IPCC 2022d.

96

- 97 Xu et al. 2021; Milman 2021.
- 98 UN-Women and UN-Water undated.
- 99 Lowder et al. 2021.
- 100 FAO 2023b.
- 101 CFS 2022; Sen 1982.
- 102 Sen 1982; FAO 2019.
- 103 UN-Women and UNDESA 2023. Note that the statistics in this paragraph are based on the amount of food required to support a sedentary life, which does not reflect the reality of, for example, rural women in developing countries. As such, these figures may underestimate the true extent of hunger globally. For a critique, see Urhahn undated.
- 104 iPES-Food 2022.
- 105 UN-Women and UNDESA 2023.
- 106 Cabral et al. 2023.
- 107 Njuki et al. 2022.
- 108 FAO 2023a.
- 109 Motta 2021.
- 110 Resurreccion 2013; Leach et al. 2016.
- 111 IPCC 2023.
- 112 Caretta et al. 2022.
- 113 Carbon Brief 2022.
- 114 Huyer et al. 2020.
- 115 Huyer et al. 2021.
- 116 Lowder et al. 2019
- 117 UN-Women and UNDESA 2023.
- 118 Akram-Lodhi 2021.
- 119 Anderson and Tripathi 2019.
- 120 Bezner Kerr et al. 2022; Bezner Kerr et al. 2019.
- 121 Seibert et al. 2019; Anderson and Tripathi 2019.
- 122 FAO 2018; UNHRC 2011a; Agarwal 2014.
- 123 Razavi 2009; Bezner Kerr et al. 2019.
- 124 Agarwal 2017.
- 125 Rosset 2015
- 126 La Via Campesina 2021; Friends of the ATC 2017; Motta 2021.
- 127 FAO 2023c.
- 128 Anseeuw and Baldinelli 2020
- 129 Ibid.
- 130 UN-Women 2019.
- 131 CFS 2015.
- 132 UN-Women and UNDP 2022.
- 133 Costella et al. 2023.
- 134 Watkins 2023.
- 135 Ibid.; Gaddis and Roberts 2023; for evidence of impact in Ghana, see: Aurino et al. 2023; and in Burkino Faso, see: Nikiem 2017.
- 136 Gaddis and Roberts 2023.
- 137 Across 85 countries, 35 per cent of school feeding programmes already integrate agricultural goals into their programme design. See GCNF 2019.
- 138 Watkins 2023.
- 139 First Nations' Development Institute 2022.
- 140 WFP 2020.
- 141 Bharadwaj 2022.
- 142 UNDESA 2021.
- 143 Act Church of Sweden et al. undated.
- 144 Ibid.; Bee et al. 2013.
- 145 Clapp 2022.

- 146 Clapp et al. 2021.
- 147 FAO 2015.
- 148 CSIPM 2023a; CSIPM 2023b.
- 149 UN OHCHR 2021; United Nations General Assembly 2021b.
- 150 Oliveira Soares et al. 2022.
- 151 Feminists for a Binding Treaty 2018; Feminists for a Binding Treaty 2022.
- 152 IPES-Food 2023b; Dorado et al. 2021.
- 153 Bryan et al. 2023; Kumar et al. 2021.
- 154 Bryan et al. 2023.
- 155 Grey and Patel 2015, p. 438; Raschke and Cheema 2008.
- 156 Holt Giménez and Shattuck 2011.
- 157 Prügl et al. 2021.
- 158 iPES-Food 2023a.
- 159 IMF 2023.
- 160 iPES-Food 2023a.
- 161 Borras Jr. 2023.
- 162 Calvário and Desmarais 2023.
- 163 Zelic and Pessoa 2021.
- 164 Calvário and Desmarais 2023.
- 165 Williams 2023.
- 166 Murphy and Hansen-Kuhn 2020; Godfrey 2022.
- 167 Gabbatiss et al. 2023; Levien 2017.
- 168 iPES-Food 2022.
- 169 UN CEDAW 2022; Tschakert et al. 2019.
- 170 Tigre 2020.

Section 3

- 171 Nelson 2018, p. 173; Moncel 2012, p. 163.
- 172 United Nations Climate Change undated-a.
- 173 Kramarz and Park 2016
- 174 This paper utilizes a broad concept of democracy, based on the theory of Robert Dahl (1971), as is operationalized and measured by the Varieties of Democracy (V-Dem) Project. It encompasses seven core dimensions of democracy: electoral, liberal, majoritarian, consensual, participatory, deliberative and egalitarian. This definition moves beyond strict electoral or procedural conceptions of democracy and recognizes the various alternative pathways through which citizens can exert influence over political processes, in particular social movements or civil society participation. It is essential to recognize these non-electoral pathways for gender and climate progress. For further reading, see V-Dem 2023a.
- 175 UN-Women 2018.
- 176 Lührmann et al. 2020.
- 177 Risse and Sikkink 1999.
- 178 Kramarz and Park 2016.
- 179 Norris and Inglehart 2019.
- 180 Fraser 2005.
- 181 UNRISD 2016; Cullenward and Victor 2020.
- 182 Williams 2023.
- 183 Sepúlveda 2017.
- 184 Keck and Sikkink 1998.
- 185 Goetz and Jenkins 2005.
- 186 Cornwall 2017.
- 187 Keck and Sikkink 1998.
- 188 Graddy-Lovelace 2021.
- 189 Arora-Jonsson 2023.

- 190 The Women and Gender Constituency is one of nine stakeholder groups of the UNFCCC, which brings together diverse civil society actors to develop common advocacy positions and influence negotiations. See: WGC 2023 and Decision 18/CP.20 of the Lima Work Programme on Gender (UNFCC 2014, p. 35). The five priority areas identified under the Enhanced Lima Work Programme on Gender and its Gender Action Plan include: capacity-building, knowledge management and communication; gender balance, participation and women's leadership; coherence; gender-responsive implementation and means of implementation; and monitoring and reporting (UNFCCC 2020b, pp. 6–9).
- 191 WEDO 2023a.
- 192 Dankelmann 2010; Aguilar 2021; Picard 2021; Resurección 2021.
- 193 Leiva Roesch and Curtin 2022.
- 194 Ibid.
- 195 Klöck et al. 2021; Huyer et al. 2020.
- 196 Maslin et al. 2023; Stoddard et al. 2021.
- 197 Maslin et al. 2023.
- 198 Lamb et al. 2020; Brulle 2019; Supran and Oreskes 2017; Oreskes and Conway 2010. More recent evidence points out that even though, for instance, the five biggest oil corporations in their latest public campaigns portray themselves as positive and proactive on the climate emergency, their lobbying and policy engagement activities were found to be misaligned with the 2015 Paris Agreement. See: InfluenceMap 2022.
- 199 The vested interests of oil producers have also been influential within the larger coalition of developing countries, including through bullying, providing financial assistance to poorer countries, making appeals to South-South identity and solidarity and regular chairmanship of the G77 and working groups within it. See: Klöck et al. 2021.
- 200 Barnett 2008; Klöck et al. 2021, p. 210.
- 201 Oreskes and Conway 2010.
- 202 Lyon and Montgomery 2015.
- 203 UNDP 2022a; UNEP 2022b; IUCN 2020.
- 204 V-Dem 2023b.
- 205 Ibid.
- 206 Ibid.
- 207 Ghosh et al. 2023.
- 208 Fresnillo Sallan 2020
- 209 This refers to local, national or transnational financing drawn from public, private and alternative sources of financing – that seeks to support mitigation and adaptation actions that will address climate change. See: United Nations Climate Change undated-b.
- 210 Oxfam 2023.
- 211 Ibid.
- 212 IMF 2023.
- 213 Cooper Hall et al. 2019; Schalatek 2020.
- 214 Engle and Weisstanner 2021.
- 215 Norris and Inglehart 2019; Verloo and Paternotte 2018; Roggeband and Krizsan 2020.
- 216 Lockwood 2018; Huber 2020.
- 217 Brown 2015; Biroli 2019; Hanusch and Meisch 2022.
- 218 MacGregor et al. 2022, p. 129.
- 219 Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity undated.
- 220 Atrey 2023a.
- 221 United Nations General Assembly 2022. The United Nations Human Rights Council had already introduced the right in a resolution the previous year (UNHRC 2021).
- 222 United Nations General Assembly 2022.
- 223 UN CEDAW 2018.
- 224 UNCRC 2023.
- 225 Atrey 2023b.
- 226 UNHRC 2011b; Business & Human Rights Resource Centre undated.

- 227 Malm 2021.
- 228 Muñoz and Villarreal Villamar 2019; Caretta et al. 2020.
- 229 Tran and Hanaček 2023, based on data from the Environmental Justice Atlas (EJAtlas), accessible at https://ejatlas.org/. The process of vetting cases to be included in EJAtlas involves four main stages: identification, write up and coding, review and validation and approval for publication.
- 230 Datapoint provided to UN-Women by EJAtlas on 6 November 2023. It refers to all EJAtlas cases that, as of 31 January 2022, were coded as YES for "women collectives or women organizations play[ing] a key role in the mobilisation against the contentious activity, either because they are affected by specific impacts (health, labour, household conditions, sexual exploitation, discrimination or murder), or because they lead the main narratives of resistance and transformation", as defined by EJAtlas undated.
- 231 Tran and Hanaček 2023.
- 232 Ibid.
- 233 UN News 2022.
- 234 Alam 2022
- 235 United Nations 2023b.
- 236 UNHRC 2021 and United Nations General Assembly 2022, respectively; High-Level Advisory Board on Effective Multilateralism 2022.
- 237 Willis et al. 2022, p. 3.
- 238 IPCC 2022b; Harris et al. 2019.
- 239 Bächtiger et al. 2018.
- 240 Willis et al. 2022; Global Assembly 2021.
- 241 Willis et al. 2022
- 242 Agarwal 2010.
- 243 Mavisakalyan and Tarverdi 2019.
- 244 Flavell 2023.
- 245 According to Hannah Pitkin (1967), substantive representation relates to the actions taken on behalf of, or in the interest of, the represented.
- 246 UNDP 2022b.
- 247 Klöck et al. 2020.
- 248 Pacific Islands Students Fighting Climate Change 2023; TIME 2022; Vanuatu ICJ Initiative 2023; ClimaTalk 2023.
- 249 IM-Defensoras 2021.
- 250 Aguilar 2022a.
- 251 Graddy-Lovelace 2021.
- 252 Bernauer and Gampfer 2013; Lall 2023.
- 253 Tran 2021.
- 254 Scheidel et al. 2020.
- 255 Tran 2021; Scheidel et al. 2020.
- 256 The Mining Charter is meant to set a framework, timetable and targets to enable excluded people to enter into and benefit from the mining industry. See Chamberlain 2023.
- 257 Chamberlain 2023.
- 258 In other words, fulfilling the corrective and preventive functions of climate accountability. See: Sepúlveda 2017.
- 259 CABRI 2022.
- 260 Patel et al. 2021; Ministry of Finance Indonesia and UNDP 2020.
- 261 CABRI 2022.
- 262 Patel et al. 2021.
- 263 Argentina, Dominican Republic, Guinea, Seychelles, Sierra Leone and Somalia. See IUCN 2021b.
- 264 Aguilar 2022b.
- 265 UN CSW 2022
- 266 IUCN 2021b; NAP Global Network 2022; UNDP 2022b; UNEP 2022b; UNFPA 2021; WEDO 2023b.
- 267 UN-Woman and UNDP 2022.
- 268 Arora-Johnson 2014; Resureccion 2021; Huyer et al. 2020.

REFERENCES

- 143 US Organizations. 2022. "Joint Letter to US Special Envoy for Climate, John Kerry." Accessed 30 October 2023. https://bit.ly/45VaWnx.
- Act Church of Sweden, Olof Palme International Center, Social Policy Initiative and Swedish Society for Nature Conservation. Undated. "Social Protection and Climate Action: A Policy Brief." Accessed 6 November 2022. https://www.svenskakyrkan.se/filer/56ba8cbf-54b0-48dc-ba41-f1e1b396151e.pdf.
- African Feminist Taskforce. 2022. "Standing in Our Power: African Women's and Girls' Demands for COP27." Accessed 30 October 2023. https://womengenderclimate.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/ WGC_COP27-African-Feminists-Demands_EN_final.pdf.
- Agarwal, B. 2010. Gender and Green Governance: The Political Economy of Women's Presence Within and Beyond Community Forestry. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Agarwal, B. 2014. "Food Sovereignty, Food Security and Democratic Choice: Critical Contradictions, Difficult Conciliations." *The Journal of Peasant Studies* 41 (6), pp. 1247–1268.
- Agarwal, B. 2017. "Does Group Farming Empower Rural Women? The Indian Experience." UN-Women Discussion Paper No. 20, December. New York: United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment (UN-Women).
- Aguilar, L. 2021. "Promising Practices that Promote Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women in Response to Climate Change in Latin America and the Caribbean." Background Paper for the Expert Group Meeting, Commission on the Status of Women (CSW66), New York, 11–14 October.
- Aguilar, L. 2022a. "Women's Autonomy and Gender Equality at the Centre of Climate Action in Latin America and the Caribbean." Project Documents. Santiago: Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean.
- Aguilar, L. 2022b. "A Pending Debt: Addressing the Linkages between Climate Change and Women's and Girls' Unpaid Care, Domestic and Communal Work." In press.
- Akram-Lodhi, A.H. 2021, "The Ties that Bind? Agroecology and the Agrarian Question in the Twenty-first Century." *The Journal* of Peasant Studies 48 (4), pp. 687–714.
- Alam, M. 2022. "Framing Paper: Environment as a Public Good High-Level Advisory Board on Effective Multilateralisms." Prepared for the Climate Governance Expert Preparatory Roundtable held on 18 February. New York: United Nations University Centre for Policy Research.
- Almassi, B. 2022. "Climate Reparations, Compensation, and Intergenerational Restorative Justice." In The Palgrave Handbook of Environmental Restorative Justice. B. Pali, M. Forsyth and F. Tepper (Eds.). Cham, Switzerland: Palgrave Macmillan, pp. 201–222.
- Amorim-Maia, A.T., I. Anguelovski, E. Chu and J. Connolly. 2022. "Intersectional Climate Justice: A Conceptual Pathway for Bridging Adaptation Planning, Transformative Action, and Social Equity." Urban Climate 41, January.
- Anderson, T. and R. Tripathi. 2019. "Agroecology: Making Agriculture Fit for Purpose in an Era of Climate Change." CLARA Member Submission to United Nations Climate Action Summit. Accessed 6 November 2023. https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/28820/ Agroecology2.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.
- Anseeuw, W. and G.M. Baldinelli. 2020. "Uneven Ground: Land Inequality at the Heart of Unequal Societies." Rome: International Land Coalition.
- Arora-Jonsson, S. 2014. "Forty Years of Gender Research and Environmental Policy: Where Do We Stand?" *Women's Studies International Forum* 47 (B), pp. 295-308.
- Arora-Jonsson, S. 2023. "Ensuring Accountability for Feminist Climate Justice." Paper prepared for the Expert Group Meeting, UN-Women, 11–12 July. In press.

- Asia Pacific Forum on Women, Law and Development, African Women's Development and Communication Network, Fòs Feminista and WEDO. 2022. "Toward a Gender-Transformative Agenda for Climate and Environmental Action: A Framework for Policy Outcomes at CSW66." Accessed 30 October 2023. https://femnet.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/Feminist-CSW-demands-2022.pdf.
- Atrey, S. 2023a. "Principles for a Framework of Feminist Climate Justice: Intersectionality, Priority and Transformation." Paper presented at the Expert Group Meeting, UN-Women, New York, 11–12 July.
- Atrey, S. 2023b. "The Inequality of Climate Change and the Difference It Makes." In Feminist Frontiers in Climate Justice: Gender Equality, Climate Change and Rights. Albertyn, C., M. Campbell, H. Alviar García et al. (Eds.). Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar Publishing Inc., pp. 17–39.
- Aurino, E., A. Gelli, C. Adamba et al. 2023. "Food for Thought? Experimental Evidence on the Learning Impacts of a Large-Scale School Feeding Program." *Journal of Human Resources* 58 (1), pp. 74–111.
- Bächtiger, A., J.S. Dryzek, J. Mansbridge and M. Warren. 2018. The Oxford Handbook of Deliberative Democracy. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Baldwin, J. 1962. "As Much Truth as One Can Bear." *The New York Times Book Review*, 14 January. Accessed 30 October 2023. https:// www.nytimes.com/1962/01/14/archives/as-much-truth-as-onecan-bear-to-speak-out-about-the-world-as-it-is.html.
- Barca, S., G. Di Chiro, W. Harcourt et al. 2023. «Caring Communities for Radical Change: What Can Feminist Political Ecology Bring to Degrowth?» In *Contours of Feminist Political Ecology*.
 W. Harcourt, A. Agostino, R. Elmhirst et al. (Eds.). Cham, Switzerland: Palgrave MacMillan, pp. 178–206.
- Barnett, J. 2008. "The Worst of Friends: OPEC and G-77 in the Climate Regime." *Global Environmental Politics* 8 (4), pp. 1–8.
- Bauhard, C. and W. Harcourth (Eds.). 2019. Feminist Political Ecology and the Economics of Care: In Search of Economic Alternatives. London: Routledge.
- Bee, B., M Biermann and P. Tschakert. 2013. "Gender, Development, and Rights-Based Approaches: Lessons for Climate Change Adaptation and Adaptive Social Protection." In Research, Action and Policy: Addressing the Gendered Impacts of Climate Change. M. Alston and K. Whittenbury (Eds). Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer, pp. 95–108.
- Bernauer, T. and R. Gampfer. 2013. "Effects of Civil Society Involvement on Popular Legitimacy of Global Environmental Governance." *Global Environmental Change* 23 (2), pp. 439–449.
- Bezner Kerr, R., C. Hickey, E. Lupafya and L. Dakishoni. 2019. "Repairing Rifts or Reproducing Inequalities? Agroecology, Food Sovereignty, and Gender Justice in Malawi." The Journal of Peasant Studies 46 (7), pp. 1499–1518.
- Bezner Kerr, R., J. Liebert, M. Kansanga and D. Kpienbaareh. 2022. "Human and Social Values in Agroecology: A Review." *Elementa: Science of the Anthropocene* 10 (1).
- Bhadani, A. 2021. "A Guide to Climate Reparations." Nation of Change, 30 November. Accessed 30 October 2023. https://www.nationofchange.org/2021/11/30/a-guide-toclimate-reparations.
- Bharadwaj, R. 2022. "Social Protection to Enhance Climate Resilience: What Works Where?" Briefing, April. London: International Institute for Environment and Development (IEED).
- Biroli, F. 2019. "The Crisis of Democracy and the Backlash against Gender." Paper prepared for the Expert Group Meeting, Commission on the Status of Women (CSW64), New York, 25-26 September.
- Borras, S.M. Jr. 2023. "La Via Campesina: Transforming Agrarian and Knowledge Politics, and Co-constructing a Field – *A Laudatio*." *The Journal of Peasant Studies* 50 (2), pp. 691–724.

- Bourgault, S. 2023. "'Keep Calm and Carry on'? A Feminist Reappropriation of Resilience Discourse." Paper presented at a panel on Women and Politics in the Global South, International Political Science Association (ISPA) 27th Congress of Political Science, Buenos Aires, 15–19 July.
- Boyd, E., B.C. Chaffin, K. Dorkenoo et al. 2021. "Loss and Damage from Climate Change: A New Climate Justice Agenda." *One Earth* 4 (10), pp. 1365–1370.
- Brown, W. 2015. Undoing the Demos: Neoliberalism's Stealth Revolution. New York: Zone Books.
- Bryan, E., M. Alvi, S. Huyer and C. Ringler. 2023. "Addressing Gender Inequalities and Strengthening Women's Agency for Climate-Resilient and Sustainable Food Systems." CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform Working Paper #013. Nairobi, Kenya: CGIAR GENDER Impact Platform.
- Brulle, R.J. 2019. "Networks of Opposition: A Structural Analysis of U.S. Climate Change Countermovement Coalitions 1989–2015." Sociological Inquiry 91, pp. 603–624.
- Bullard, R.D. 1990. Dumping in Dixie: Race, Class, and Environmental Quality. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Business & Human Rights Resource Centre. Undated. "Binding Treaty." Accessed 1 November 2023. https://www.business-humanrights. org/en/big-issues/binding-treaty.
- Cabral, L., S. Devereux, S. Metcalfe et al. 2023. "Pathways to Equitable Food Systems." June. Brighton: Institute of Development Studies (IDS).
- CABRI. 2022. "Gender and Climate-Change Budgeting and Finance: Lessons from the IBFCCA Programme." Policy Brief. Accessed 1 November 2023. https://www.cabri-sbo.org/uploads/files/ Documents/IBFCCA-Gender-and-CC-briefing-note_ENG_ Final.pdf.
- Calvário, R. and A.A. Desmarais. 2023. "The Feminist Dimensions of Food Sovereignty: Insights from La Via Campesina's Politics." The Journal of Peasant Studies 50 (7), pp.1–25.
- Carbon Brief. 2021. "Analysis: The Lack of Diversity in Climate-Science Research." 6 October. Accessed 31 October 2023. https://www.carbonbrief.org/analysis-the-lack-of-diversityin-climate-science-research.
- Carbon Brief. 2022. "Scientists React: What Are the Key New Insights from the IPCC's WG2 Report?" 1 Marach. Accessed 19 October 2023. https://www.carbonbrief.org/scientists-react-what-are-thekey-new-insights-from-the-ipccs-wg2-report.
- Caretta, M.A., S. Zaragocin, B. Turley and K.T. Orellana. 2020. "Women's Organizing against Extractivism: Towards a Decolonial Multi-Sited Analysis." *Human Geography* 13(1), pp. 49–59.
- Caretta, M.A., A. Mukherji, M. Arfanuzzaman et al. 2022: "Water." In Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, M. Tignor et al. (Eds.). Cambridge and New York; Cambridge University Press, pp. 551–712.
- Castañeda, I. and L. Sabater. 2020. "Gender-Based Violence and Environment Linkages: The Violence of Inequality." Gland, Switzerland: ICUN.
- CFS (Committee on World Food Security). 2015. "Connecting Smallholders to Markets." Policy Recommendations. Accessed 6 November 2023. https://www.fao.org/3/bq853e/bq853e.pdf.
- CFS. 2022. "Voluntary Guidelines on Gender Equality and Women and Girls' Empowerment in the Context of Food Security and Nutrition: Draft Conclusions." CFS Forty-ninth Session, Making a Difference in Food Security and Nutrition, 11-14 October. CFS2021/49/10.
- Chakma, T, S. Rigg and A. Ramsay. 2022. "Women confronting loss and damage in Africa: Feminist climate justice research from Kenya, Nigeria, Rwanda and Zambia." London: ActionAid UK.

- Chamberlain, L. 2023. "The Value of Litigation to Women Environmental Human Rights Defenders in South Africa." In Feminist Frontiers in Climate Justice: Gender Equality, Climate Change and Rights. Albertyn, C., M. Campbell, H. Alviar García et al. (Eds.). Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar Publishing, pp. 213–245.
- Chancel, L. 2022. "Global Carbon Inequality over 1990–2019." Nature Sustainability 5, September, pp. 931–938
- Chinweizu, I. 1993. "Reparations and a New Global Order: A Comparative Overview." Paper read at the second Plenary Session of the First Pan-African Conference on Reparations, Abuja, Nigeria, 27 April.
- Clapp, J. 2022, "The Rise of Big Food and Agriculture: Corporate Influence in the Food System." In A Research Agenda for Food Systems. C. Sage (Ed.). Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar Publishing Limited, pp. 45–66.
- Clapp, J., I. Noyes and Z. Grant. 2021. "The Food Systems Summit's Failure to Address Corporate Power." *Development* 64, pp. 192–198.
- ClimaTalk. 2023. "ICJ Asked to Clarify Countries' Obligations to Fight Climate Change." 19 April. Accessed 1 November 2023. https://climatalk.org/2023/04/19/icj-climate-justice-fightlitigation-youth-climate-activism-climate-change.
- Cohn, C. and C. Duncanson. 2023 "Critical Feminist Engagements with Green New Deals." *Feminist Economics* 29 (3), pp. 15–39.
- Cooper Hall, L., M. Granat and T. Daniel. 2019. Women's Organizations and Climate Finance: Engaging in Processes and Accessing Resources. New York: Women's Environment and Development Organization (WEDO).
- Cornwall, A. 2017. "Introduction: New Democratic Spaces? The Politics and Dynamics of Institutionalised Participation." *IDS Bulletin* 48 (1A), pp. 1–10.
- Costella, C., M. van Aalst, Y. Georgiadou et al. 2023. "Can Social Protection Tackle Emerging Risks from Climate Change, and How? A Framework and a Critical Review." *Climate Risk Management* 40 (2023).
- Crenshaw, K. 1989. "Demarginalizing the Intersection of Race and Sex: A Black Feminist Critique of Antidiscrimination Doctrine, Feminist Theory and Antiracist Politics." University of Chicago Legal Forum 1989 (1), pp. 139–167.
- CSIPM (Civil Society and Indigenous Peoples' Mechanism). 2023a. "What is the CSIPM?" Accessed 6 November 2023. https://www.csm4cfs.org/what-is-the-csm.
- CSIPM. 2023b. "Women and Gender Diversities." Accessed 6 November 2023. https://www.csm4cfs.org/policy-working-groups/women.
- Cullenward, D. and D.G. Victor. 2020. Making Climate Policy Work. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Dahl, R.A. 1971. *Polyarchy: Participation and Opposition.* New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Dankelmann, I. 2010. Gender and Climate Change: An Introduction. London: Routledge.
- Dorado, D., S. Monsalve, A. Naik and A.M. Suárez. 2021. "Towards Building Comprehensive Legal Frameworks for Corporate Accountability in Food Governance." *Development* 64, pp. 236–244.
- Duerto Valero, S. and S. Kaul. 2023. "Gendered Impacts of Climate Change: Empirical Evidence from Asia." Accessed 1 November 2023. https://data.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/documents/Publications/2023/impact-climate-change-gender-asiapacific.pdf.
- EJAtlas (Global Atlas of Environmental Justice). Undated. "Definitions." Accessed 17 November 2023. https://ejatlas.org/backoffice/cms/ en/definitions/.
- Engle, S. and D. Weisstanner. 2021. "The Threat of Social Decline: Income Inequality and Radical Right Support." *Journal of European Public Policy* 28 (2), pp. 153–173.

- Ewig, C. 2018. "Forging Women's Substantive Representation: Intersectional Interests, Political Parity, and Pensions in Bolivia". *Politics & Gender* 14 (3), pp. 433–459.
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations). 2015. "The Committee on World Food Security." Accessed 6 November 2023. https://www.fao.org/3/au831e/au831e.pdf.
- FAO. 2018. "The 10 Elements of Agroecology: Guiding the Transition to Sustainable Food and Agricultural Systems." Accessed 6 November 2023. http://www.fao.org/3/19037EN/i9037en.pdf.
- FAO. 2019. "Fifteen Years Implementing the Right to Food Guidelines: Reviewing Progress to Achieve the 2030 Agenda." Accessed 6 November 2023. https://www.fao.org/3/ca6283en/CA6283EN.pdf.
- FAO. 2022. "Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Agrifood Systems: Global, Regional and Country Trends, 2000–2020." FAOSTAT Analytical Brief Series No. 50. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO).
- FAO. 2023a. "The Status of Women in Agrifood Systems: Overview." Accessed 31 October 2023. https://www.fao.org/3/CC5060EN/ online/status-women-agrifood-systems-2023/chapter1.html.
- FAO. 2023b. The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World 2023: Urbanization, Agrifood Systems Transformation and Health Diets Across the Rural-Urban Continuum. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO).
- FAO. 2023c. The Status of Women in Systems. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO).
- Federal Government of Nigeria. 2021. "Nigeria's Nationally Determined Contribution: 2021 Update." https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/ NDC/2022-06/NDC_File%20Amended%20_11222.pdf.
- Federal Ministry of Environment, Nigeria. 2020. "National Action Plan on Gender and Climate Change for Nigeria." Abuja: Federal Ministry of Environment.
- Feminists for a Binding Treaty. 2018. "Integrating a Gender Perspective into the Legally Binding Instrument on Transnational Corporations and Other Business Enterprises: Comments on the Zero Draft Proposed by the OEIGWG Chair." 20 October. Accessed 6 November 2023. https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/ Documents/HRBodies/HRCouncil/WGTransCorp/Session4/ SubmissionLater/FeministsBindingTreaty.docx.
- Feminists for a Binding Treaty. 2022. "Feminist Realities Must be Reflected in Corporate Accountability Mechanisms." Cambridge Core Blog, 25 October. Accessed 6 November 2023. https://www.cambridge. org/core/blog/2022/10/25/feminist-realities-must-be-reflectedin-corporate-accountability-mechanisms.
- First Nations Development Institute. 2022. "Current Projects: Native Farm to School." Accessed 6 November 2023. https://www.firstnations. org/projects/native-farm-to-school.
- Flavell, J. 2023. Mainstreaming Gender in Global Climate Governance: Women and Gender Constituency in the UNFCCC. London: Routledge.
- Forsyth, M., B. Pali, and F. Tepper. 2022 "Environmental Restorative Justice: An Introduction and an Invitation." In *The Palgrave Handbook* of Environmental Restorative Justice, B. Pali, M. Forsyth and F. Tepper (Eds). Cham, Switzerland: Palgrave Macmillan, pp. 1–24
- Fraser, N. 1995. "From Redistribution to Recognition? Dilemmas of Justice in a 'Post-Socialist' Age." *New Left Review* I/212 (July/August).
- Fraser, N. 2005. "Reframing Justice in a Globalizing World." New Left Review, No. 36 (Nov/Dec).
- Fraser N. 2021. "Climates of Capital." New Left Review, 127 (Jan/Feb).
- Fraser, N. 2022. Cannibal Capitalism: How Our System Is Devouring Democracy, Care, and the Planet and What We Can Do about It. London and New York: Verso.
- Fredman, S. and B. Goldblatt. 2015. "Gender Equality and Human Rights." UN-Women Discussion Paper No. 4. New York: United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women (UN-Women).

- Fresnillo Sallan, I. 2020. "Debt and Climate: Entangled Emergencies Derailing Women's Rights and Gender Justice." *Gender and Development* 28 (3), pp. 499–513.
- Friends of the ATC (Asociación de Trabajadores del Campo). 2017. "Gloria Quintanilla Cooperative, Santa Julia, Nicaragua." Blog, 29 December. Accessed 3 August 2021. https://web.archive.org/ web/20220901041833/https://friendsatc.org/gloria-quintanillacooperative-santa-julia-nicaragua/.
- Fruttero, A., D. Halim, C. Broccolini et al. 2023. "Gendered Impacts of Climate Change: Evidence from Weather Shocks." World Bank Working Paper No. 10442. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Gaard, G. 2015. "Ecofeminism and Climate Change." Women's Studies International Forum 49, pp. 20–33.
- Gabbatiss, J., D. Dunne, A. Chandrasekhar et al. 2023. "In-depth Q&A: Can' Carbon Offsets' Help to Tackle Climate Change?" CarbonBrief, 25 September. Accessed 6 November 2023. https://interactive.carbonbrief.org/carbon-offsets-2023.
- Gaddis, J. and S. Roberts (Eds.). 2024. *Transforming School Food Politics* around the World. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press. In press.
- GCNF (Global Child Nutrition Foundation). 2019. School Meal Programs Around the World: Results from the Global Survey of School Meal Programs. Seattle, WA: Global Child Nutrition Foundation (GCNF).
- Gebara, Maria F. 2022. "Ecological Justice in Post-COVID-19 Politics: The Role of Affective Ecologies and Amazonian Indigenous Ontologies." In Environment, Climate, and Social Justice: Perspectives from the Global South. Madhanagopal, D., C.T. Beer, B. Raju Nikku and A.J. Pelser (Eds.). Singapore: Springer, pp. 371–387.
- Ghosh, J. S. Dixson-Declève and J. Berstein. 2023. "Why the Paris Financing Summit Failed." Project Syndicate, 13 July. Accessed 31 October 2023. https://www.project-syndicate.org/ commentary/paris-climate-financing-summit-disappointingoutcomes-by-jayati-ghosh-et-al-2023-07.
- GI-ESCR (Global Institute for Economic, Social and Cultural Rights). 2020. "Renewable Energy and Gender Justice." Briefing Paper. Accessed 31 October 2023. https://geneva.fes.de/fileadmin/ user_upload/documents/2020/2020_GI-ESCR_Paper.pdf.
- GI-ESCR. 2021. "Women's Participation in the Renewable Energy Transition: A Human Rights Perspective." Briefing Paper 2. Accessed 31 October 2023. https://static1.squarespace.com/ static/5a6e0958f6576ebde0e78c18/t/61afd0e6402460677af 9d252/1638912239696/Briefing+paper+on+women%27s+ participation+in+the+energy+transition.pdf.
- Global Assembly. 2021. "Citizens from the Global Assembly Present Their Proposals." Accessed 2 November 2023. https://globalassembly.org.
- Global Forest Coalition. 2022. "COP27 Peoples' Declaration for Climate Justice." Accessed 31 October 2023. https://globalforestcoalition. org/cop27-peoples-declaration-for-climate-justice.
- Godfrey, C. 2022. "Stop the Dumping! How EU Agricultural Subsidies Are Damaging Livelihoods in the Developing World." Oxfam Briefing Paper 31. Washington, DC: Oxfam International.
- Goetz, A. and R. Jenkins. 2005. *Reinventing Accountability: Making Democracy Work for Human Development*, New York: Palgrave Macmillan, cited in Mechkova, V. and R. Carlitz. 2021. "Gendered Accountability: When and Why Do Women's Policy Priorities Get Implemented?" *European Political Science Review* 13 (1), pp. 3–21.
- Goldsmith, L. and M.L. Bell. 2022. "Queering Environmental Justice: Unequal Environmental Health Burden on the LGBTQ+ Community. American Journal of Public Health 112 (1), pp. 79–87.
- Government of Guatemala. 2021. "Contribución Nacionalmente Determinada, Guatemala 2021." Accessed 2 November 2023. https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/2022-06/NDC%20-%20 Guatemala%202021.pdf.

- Government of Guatemala. 2022. "Plan de Acción de Género y Cambio Climático." Ministerio de Ambiente y Recursos Naturales. Accessed 2 November 2023. https://www.marn.gob.gt/tag/ plan-de-accion-de-genero-y-cambio-climatico.
- Graddy-Lovelace, G. 2021. "Leveraging Law and Life: Criminalization of Agrarian Movements and the Escazú Agreement." In Our Extractive Age: Expressions of Violence and Resistance. J. Shapiro and J.-A. McNeish (Eds.). London: Routledge.
- Greenfield, P. 2003. "Revealed: More than 90% of Rainforest Carbon Offsets by Biggest Certifier Worthless, Analysis Shows." *The Guardian*, 18 January. Accessed 30 October 2023. https://www. theguardian.com/environment/2023/jan/18/revealed-forestcarbon-offsets-biggest-provider-worthless-verra-ace.
- Grey, S. and R. Patel. 2015. "Food Sovereignty as Decolonization: Some Contributions from Indigenous Movements to Food System and Development Politics." Agriculture and Human Values 32, pp. 431–444.
- Hanusch, F. and S. Meisch. 2022. "The Temporal Cleavage: The Case of Populist Retrotopia vs. Climate Emergency." *Environmental Politics* 31 (5), pp. 883–903.
- Harcourt, W., A. Agostino, R. Elmhirst et al. (Eds.). 2023. Contours of Feminist Political Ecology. Cham, Switzerland: Palgrave MacMillan.
- Harris, J., M. Anderson, C. Clément and N. Nisbett (Eds.). 2019. "The Political Economy of Food." IDS *Bulletin: Transforming Development Knowledge* 50 (2), July.
- Hickel, J. 2020. "Quantifying National Responsibility for Climate Breakdown: An Equality-based Attribution Approach for Carbon Dioxide Emissions in Excess of the Planetary Boundary." The Lancet Planetary Health 4 (9), pp. e399–e404.
- High-Level Advisory Board on Effective Multilateralism. 2022. "Shift Two: Planet and People Regain Balance with Nature and Provide Clean Energy for All." Accessed 1 November 2023. https://highleveladvisoryboard.org/breakthrough/pdf/ highleveladvisoryboard_breakthrough_Shift2.pdf.
- Hochsprung Miguel, J.C., R. Taddei and M. Monteiro. 2022. "Civic Epistemologies." In A Critical Assessment of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. K. De Pryck and M. Hulme (Eds.). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 217–224.
- Holt Giménez, E. and A. Shattuck. 2011. "Food Crises, Food Regimes and Food Movements: Rumblings of Reform or Tides of Transformation?" The Journal of Peasant Studies 38 (1), pp. 109–144.
- Huber, R. 2020. "The Role of Populist Attitudes in Explaining Climate Change Skepticism and Support for Environmental Protection." Environmental Politics 29 (6), pp. 959-982.
- Huyer, S., M. Acosta, T. Gumucio and J. Irisha Jim Ilham. 2020. "Can We Turn the Tide? Confronting Gender Inequality in Climate Policy." *Gender & Development* 28 (3), pp, 571–591.
- Huyer, S., T. Gumucio, K. Tavenner et al. 2021. "From Vulnerability to Agency in Climate Adaptation and Mitigation." In Advancing Gender Equality through Agricultural and Environmental Research: Past, Present and Future. R. Pyburn and A. van Eerdewijk (Eds.). Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI), pp. 261–296.
- IM-Defensoras (Iniciativa Mesoamericana de Mujeres Defensoras de Derechos Humanos). 2021. "The Pact to Care among Ourselves, 2010–2021: IM-Defensoras' Approach to Feminist Holistic Protection in Mesoamerica." Accessed 1 November 2023. https://im-defensoras.org/2022/12/the-pact-to-care-amongourselves-2010-2021-im-defensoras-approach-to-feministholistic-protection-in-mesoamerica.
- IMF (international Monetary Fund). 2023. World Economic Outlook: A Rocky Recovery. Washington, DC: IMF.
- InfluenceMap. "Big Oil's Real Agenda on Climate Change 2022: An InfluenceMap Report." Accessed 1 November 2023. https:// influencemap.org/report/How-Big-Oil-Continues-to-Opposethe-Paris-Agreement-38212275958aa21196dae3b76220bddc.

- IPBES (Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services). 2019. Summary for Policymakers of the Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. Bonn, Germany: IPBES Secretariat.
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change). 2022a. *Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability.* Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
- IPCC. 2022b. "Cross-Chapter Box: Gender, Gender, Climate Justice and Transformative Pathways." In *Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability.* Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press.
- IPCC. 2022c. "Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability: Summary for Policymakers." Accessed 20 January 2023. https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg2/downloads/report/IPCC_ AR6_WGII_SummaryForPolicymakers.pdf.
- IPCC. 2022d. "Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change Working Group III Contribution to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change." Geneva: IPCC.
- IPCC. 2023. "Gender." Accessed 6 November 2023. https://www.ipcc.ch/ about/gender/#:~:text=The%20IPCC%20Gender%20Policy%20 aims,issues%20through%20training%20and%20guidance.
- iPES Food (International Panel of Experts on Sustainable Food Systems). 2022. "Another Perfect Storm?: How the Failure to Reform Food Systems Has Allowed the War in Ukraine to Spark a Third Global Food Price Crisis in 15 Years, and What Can Be Done to Prevent the Next One." A Special Report, May. Accessed 7 November 2023. https://ipes-food.org/_img/upload/files/AnotherPerfectStorm.pdf.
- iPES Food. 2023a. "Breaking the Cycle of Unsustainable Food Systems, Hunger, and Debt." A Special Report, March. Accessed 7 November 2023. https://www.ipes-food.org/_img/upload/files/ DebtFoodCrisis.pdf.
- IPES Food. 2023b. "Who's Tipping the Scales? The Growing Influence of Corporations on the Governance of Food Systems, and How to Counter It." Accessed 7 November 2023. https://www.ipes-food. org/_img/upload/files/tippingthescales.pdf.
- IUCN (International Union for Conservation of Nature). 2020. "Climate Change Gender Action Plans (ccGAPS)." Accessed 19 October 2023. https://genderandenvironment.org/ccgaps/#:~:text= Climate%20Change%20Gender%20Action%20Plans%20 (ccGAPs)%20build%20on%20a%20country%E2%80%99s,issues %20in%20each%20priority%20sector.
- IUCN. 2021a. "New Data Reveals Slow Progress in Achieving Gender Equality in Environmental Decision Making." Story, 1 March. Accessed 17 November 2023. https://www.iucn.org/news/ gender/202103/new-data-reveals-slow-progress-achievinggender-equality-environmental-decision-making.
- IUCN. 2021b. "Gender and National Climate Planning: Gender Integration in the Revised Nationally Determined Contributions." Accessed 1 November 2023. https://portals.iucn.org/library/sites/library/ files/documents/2021-043-En.pdf.
- Jaldi, A. 2023. "The Crisis of Multilateralism Viewed from the Global South." Policy Paper. Rabat, Morocco: Policy Centre for the New South.
- Jasanoff, S. 2005. Designs on Nature: Science and Democracy in Europe and the United States. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Karlsson, T., J. Dell, S. Gündogdu and B. Carney Almroth. 2023. *Plastic Waste Trade: The Hidden Numbers*. Gothenburg, Sweden: International Pollutants Elimination Network (IPEN).
- Keck, M.E. and K. Sikkink. 1998. Activists beyond Borders: Advocacy Networks in International Politics. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Kingdom of Cambodia. 2020. "Cambodia's Updated Nationally Determined Contribution." Accessed 2 November 2023. https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/NDC/2022-06/20201231_ NDC_Update_Cambodia.pdf.

- Klöck C., P. Castro, F. Weiler and L. Øfjord Blaxekjær. 2021. *Coalitions in the Climate Change Negotiations*. London: Routledge.
- Kramarz, T. and S. Park. 2016. "Accountability in Global Environmental Governance: A Meaningful Tool for Action?" *Global Environmental Politics* 16 (2), pp. 1–21.
- Kumar, N., K. Raghunathan, A. Arrieta et al. 2021. "The Power of the Collective Empowers Women: Evidence from Self-Help Groups in India." World Development 146, October.
- La Via Campesina. 2021. "The Path of Peasant and Popular Feminism in La Via Campesina." Harare: La Via Campesina.
- Lall, R. 2023. "Making Global Governance Accountable: Civil Society, States, and the Politics of Reform." *American Journal of Political Science.* In press.
- Lamb, W F., G. Mattioli, S. Levi, et al. 2020. "Discourses of Climate Delay." Global Sustainability 3 (E17).
- Latindadd (Red Latinoamericana por Justicia Económica y Social). 2023. Climate Crisis, Debt and Recovery in a Context of Multiple Crises: A Look from a Climate Justice Perspective in Latin America and the Caribbean. Lima: Latindadd.
- Leach, M., L. Mehta and P. Prabhakaran. 2016. "Gender Equality and Sustainable Development: A Pathways Approach." UN-Women Discussion Paper No. 13, July. New York: United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women (UN-Women).
- Leiva Roesch, J. and E. Curtin. 2022. "Reform or Peril? The Future of the UNFCCC." Accessed 1 November 2023. https://highleveladvisoryboard.org/download/reform-orperil-the-future-of-the-unfccc.
- Levien, M. 2017. "Gender and Land Dispossession: A Comparative Analysis." UN-Women Discussion Paper No 15, July. New York: United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women (UN-Women).
- Lockwood, M. 2018. "Right-Wing Populism and the Climate Change Agenda: Exploring the Linkages." *Environmental Politics* 27 (4), pp. 712–732.
- Loss and Damage Youth Coalition. 2022. "Loss and Damage Finance Now!" Accessed 30 October 2023. https://ldyouth.files.wordpress. com/2022/10/full-demand-cop27-1.pdf.
- Lowder, S.K., M.V. Sánchez and R. Bertini. 2019. "Farms, Family Farms, Farmland Distribution and Farm Labour: What Do We Know Today?" FAO Agricultural Development Economics Working Paper 19–08. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO).
- Lowder, S.K., M.V. Sánchez and R. Bertini. 2021. "Which Farms Feed the World and Has Farmland Become More Concentrated?" *World Development* 142, June.
- Lührmann, A., K. Marquardt and V. Mechkova. 2020. "Constraining Governments: New Indices of Vertical, Horizontal, and Diagonal Accountability." American Political Science Review 114 (3), pp. 811–820.
- Lykke, N. 2011. "Intersectional Analysis: Black Box or Useful Critical Feminist Thinking Technology?" In Framing Intersectionality: Debates on a Multi-Faceted Concept in Gender Studies. Lutz, H., M.T. Herrera Vivar and L. Supik (Eds.). London and New York: Routledge, pp. 207–220.
- Lyon, T.P. and A.W. Montgomery. 2015. "The Means and End of Greenwash." Organization & Environment 28 (2).
- MacGregor, S., S. Arora-Jonsson and M. Cohen. 2022. "Caring in a Changing Climate: Centering Care Work in Climate Action." Oxfam Research Backgrounder Series. Boston, MA: Oxfam America.
- Malm A. 2021. How to Blow up a Pipeline: Learning to Fight in a World on Fire. London: Verso.
- Maslin, M., J. Lang and F. Harvey. 2023. "A Short History of the Successes and Failures of the International Climate Change Negotiations." UCL Open Environment 5.

- Mavisakalyan, A. and Y. Tarverdi. 2019. "Gender and Climate Change: Do Female Parliamentarians Make Difference?" European Journal of Political Economy 56, pp. 151–164.
- Mechler, R., L.M. Bouwer, T. Schinko et al. 2018. Loss and Damage from Climate Change: Concepts, Methods and Policy Options. Cham, Switzerland: Springer.
- Milman, O. 2021. "Meat Accounts for Nearly 60% of All Greenhouse Gases from Food Production, Study Finds." *The Guardian*, 13 September. Accessed 7 November 2023. https://www.theguardian.com/ environment/2021/sep/13/meat-greenhouses-gases-foodproduction-study.
- Ministry of Climate Change and Environmental Coordination, Pakistan. 2023. "National Adaptation Plan: Pakistan 2023." Accessed 2 November 2023. https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/ National_Adaptation_Plan_Pakistan.pdf.
- Ministry of Finance Indonesia and UNDP (United Nations Development Programme). 2020. Study on Gender-Responsive Climate Change Budgeting. Jakarta: Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Indonesia.
- Moncel, R. 2012. "All Hands on Deck! Mobilizing Climate Change Action beyond the UNFCCC." *Review of European Community & International Environmental Law* 21 (3), pp. 163–176.
- Motta, R. 2021. "Social Movements as Agents of Change: Fighting Intersectional Food Inequalities, Building Food as Webs of Life." *The Sociological Review* 69 (3), pp. 603–625.
- Muñoz, E.E. and M. Villarreal Villamar. 2019. "Women's Struggles against Extractivism in Latin America and the Caribbean." Special Issue: Gender in the Global South. *Contexto Internacional* 41 (2), May–August.
- Murphy, S. and K. Hansen-Kuhn. 2020. "The True Costs of US Agricultural Dumping." *Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems* 35 (4), pp. 376–390.
- NAP Global Network. 2022. Gender-Responsive National Adaptation Plan (NAP) Processes: Progress and Promising Examples – NAP Global Synthesis Report, 2021–2022. Winnipeg, Canada: International Institute for Sustainable Development.
- Nelson, J.A. 1997. "Feminism, Ecology and the Philosophy of Economics." Ecological Economics 20 (2), pp. 155–162.
- Nelson, J.A. 2018. *Economies for Humans*. Second Edition. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Nelson, J.A. and M. Power. 2018. "Ecology, Sustainability, and Care: Developments in the Field." *Feminist Economics* 24 (3), pp. 80–88
- Newell, P. 2022. "Climate Justice." The Journal of Peasant Studies 49 (5), pp. 915–923.
- Nikiem, P.R. 2017. "Impact of School Feeding Programmes on Educational Outcomes: Evidence from Dry Cereals in Schools in Burkina Faso." WIDER Working Paper 2017/182. Helsinki: United Nations University World Institute for Development Economics Research (UNU-WIDER).
- Njuki, J., S. Eissler, M. Malapit et al. 2022. "A Review of Evidence on Gender Equality, Women's Empowerment, and Food Systems." *Global Food Security* 33, June.
- Norris, P. and R. Inglehart. 2019. Cultural Backlash: Trump, Brexit, and Authoritarian Populism. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Oliveira Soares, A., M. Carneiro Roland and T. Fernandes. 2022. "Negotiations over the International Treaty on Business & Human Rights: Challenges and Perspectives." Opinion, 10 October. Business and Human Rights Resource Centre. Accessed 6 November 2023. https://www.business-humanrights.org/en/ blog/negotiations-over-the-international-treaty-on-businesshuman-rights-challenges-and-perspectives.
- Oreskes, N. and E.M. Conway. 2010. Merchants of Doubt: How a Handful of Scientists Obscured the Truth on Issues from Tobacco Smoke to Global Warming. New York: Bloomsbury Press.

- Oxfam. 2023. "Climate Finance Shadow Report 2023: Assessing the Delivery of the \$100 Billion Commitment." Briefing Paper. Oxford: Oxfam GB.
- Pacific Islands Students Fighting Climate Change. 2023. "To the International Court of Justice: The Campaign." Accessed 2 November 2023. https://www.pisfcc.org/icjao.
- Patel, S., D. McCullough, P. Steele et al. 2021. "Tackling Gender Inequality and Climate Change through the Budget: A Look at Gender-Responsive Climate Change Budgeting in Bangladesh and Mexico." Paper, April. Accessed 1 November 2023. https://internationalbudget.org/wp-content/uploads/genderclimate-budgeting-synthesis-april-2021.pdf.
- People's Agreement of Cochabamba. 2010. "World People's Conference on Climate Change and the Rights of Mother Earth." Accessed 1 November 2023. https://pwccc.wordpress.com/2010/04/24/ peoples-agreement.
- Picard, M. 2021. "Empowering Women in Climate, Environment and Disaster Risk Governance: From National Policy to Local Action." Background Paper for the Expert Group Meeting, Commission on the Status of Women (CSW66), New York, 11–14 October.
- Pitkin, H.F. 1967. The Concept of Representation. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Prügl, E., F. Reysoo and D.Tsikata. 2021. "Agricultural and Land Commercialization: Feminist and Rights Perspectives." The Journal of Peasant Studies 48 (7), pp. 1419–1438.
- Raschke, V. and B. Cheema. 2008. "Colonisation, the New World Order, and the Eradication of Traditional Food Habits in East Africa: Historical Perspective on the Nutrition Transition." Public Health Nutrition 11 (7) pp. 662–674.
- Razavi, S. 2009. "Engendering the Political Economy of Agrarian Change." The Journal of Peasant Studies 36 (1), pp. 197–226.
- Reksten, N. and M.S. Floro. 2021. "Feminist Ecological Economics: A Care-Centred Approach to Sustainability." In Sustainable Consumption and Production, Volume I. R. Bali Swain and S. Sweet (Eds.). Cham, Switzerland: Palgrave Macmillan, pp. 369–389.
- Resurreccion, B.P. 2013. "Persistent Women and Environment Linkages in Climate Change and Sustainable Development Agendas." *Women's Studies International Forum* 40, pp. 33–43.
- Resurreccion, B.P. 2021. "Gender, Climate Change and Disasters: Vulnerabilities, Responses, and Imagining a More Caring and Better World." Background Paper for the Expert Group Meeting, Commission on the Status of Women (CSW66), New York, 11–14 October.
- Risse, T. and K. Sikkink. 1999. "The Socialization of International Human Rights Norms into Domestic Practices: Introduction." In The Power of Human Rights: International Norms and Domestic Change, Vol. 66. T. Risse, S.C. Ropp and K. Sikkink (Eds.). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 1–38.
- Roggeband, C. and A. Krizsan. 2020. "Democratic Backsliding and Backlash against Women's Rights: Understanding the Current Challenges for Feminist Politics." UN-Women Discussion Paper No. 35. New York: UN-Women.
- Rosset, P.M. 2015. "Social Organization and Process in Bringing Agroecology to Scale." In Agroecology for Food Security and Nutrition: Proceedings of the FAO International Symposium, 18–19 September, Rome, pp. 298–307. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO).
- Schalatek, L. 2020. "Gender and Climate Finance." Climate Finance Fundamentals 10, November. London and Washington, DC: Overseas Development Institute (ODI) and Heinrich Böll Siftung.
- Scheidel, A., D. Del Bene, J. Liu et al. 2020. "Environmental Conflicts and Defenders: A Global Overview." *Global Environmental Change* 63, 102104.
- Schipper, E.L.F. 2020. "Maladaptation: When Adaptation to Climate Change Goes Very Wrong." One Earth 3 (4), pp. 409–414.

- Seager, J. 2019. "Gender Equality and Environmental Sustainability in the Age of Crisis." Paper prepared for the Expert Group Meeting, Commission on the Status of Women (CSW64), New York, 25-26 September.
- Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity. 2020. "Global Biodiversity Outlook 5." Accessed 1 November 2023. https://www.cbd.int/gbo/gbo5/publication/gbo-5-en.pdf.
- Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity. Undated. "Target 22: Ensure Participation, Justice, and Rights for Indigenous Peoples and Local Communities, Women, Youth, Persons with Disabilities and Environmental Defenders." Accessed 2 November 2023. https://www.cbd.int/gbf/targets/22.
- Seibert, I.G., A. Talat Sayeed, Z. Georgieva and A. Guerra. 2019. "Without Feminism, There Is No Agroecology." *The Right to Food and Nutrition Watch* 11, pp. 42–51
- Sen, A. 1982. Poverty and Famines: An Essay on Entitlement and Deprivation. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Sepúlveda, M. 2017. "Seeking Accountability for Women's Rights through the Sustainable Development Goals." New York: Centre for Economic and Social Rights (CESR) and UN-Women.
- Simpson, N.P., J. Clarke, S.A. Orr et al. 2022. "Decolonizing Climate Change-Heritage Research". *Nature Climate Change* 12, pp. 210–218.
- Stoddard, I., K. Anderson, S. Capstick et al. 2021. "Three Decades of Climate Mitigation: Why Haven't We Bent the Global Emissions Curve?" Annual Review of Environment and Resources 46 (1), pp. 653–689.
- Sultana, F. 2021 "Climate Change, COVID–19, and the Co-production of Injustices: A Feminist Reading of Overlapping Crises." Social and Cultural Geography 22 (4), pp. 1–14.
- Sultana, F. 2022a. "The Unbearable Heaviness of Climate Coloniality." Political Geography 99.
- Sultana, F. 2022b. "Critical Climate Justice." The Geographical Journal 188 (1), pp. 118–124.
- Supran, G. and N. Oreskes. 2017. "Assessing ExxonMobil's Climate Change Communications (1977–2014)." Environmental Research Letters 12 (8), August.
- Táíwò, O.O. 2021. "Transcript: Olúfémi O. Táíwò on Climate Colonialism and Reparations /216." 6 January. Accessed 1 November 2023. https://forthewild.world/podcast-transcripts/olufemi-o-taiwoon-climate-colonialism-and-reparations-216.
- Táíwò, O.O. 2022. *Reconsidering Reparations*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Temper, L., D. del Bene and J. Martinez–Alier. 2015. "Mapping the Frontiers and Front Lines of Global Environmental Justice: The EJAtlas." *Journal of Political Ecology* 22 (1), pp. 254–278.
- Tigre, M.A. 2020. "Inter-American Court Recognizes the Right to a Healthy Environment of Indigenous Peoples in First Contentious Case." International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN), 4 May. Accessed 6 November 2023. https://www.iucn.org/news/ world-commission-environmental-law/202005/inter-americancourt-recognizes-right-a-healthy-environment-indigenouspeoples-first-contentious-case
- TIME. 2022. "Pacific Island Nations Are Bringing Their Climate Justice Fight to the World's Highest Court." 18 July. Accessed 2 November 2023. https://time.com/6197027/pacific-island-nations-vanuatuclimate-change.
- Tran, D. 2021. "A Comparative Study of Women Environmental Defenders' Antiviolent Success Strategies." *Geoforum* 126, pp. 126138.
- Tran, D. and K.A. Hanaček. 2023. "Global Analysis of Violence against Women Defenders in Environmental Conflicts." Nature Sustainability 6, pp. 1045–1053.
- Tronto, J. 1993. Moral Boundaries: A Political Argument for an Ethic of Care. New York: Routledge.

- Tronto, J. 2013. Caring Democracy: Markets, Equality, and Justice. New York: NYU Press.
- Tschakert, P., J. Barnett, N. Ellis et al. 2017. "Climate Change and Loss, as if People Mattered: Values, Places, and Experiences." *WIREs Climate Change* 8 (5), e476.
- Tschakert, P., N.R. Ellis, C. Anderson et al. 2019. "One Thousand Ways to Experience Loss: A Systematic Analysis of Climate-related Intangible Harm from Around the World". *Global Environmental Change* 55, pp. 58–72.
- Tuana, N. 2019. "Climate Apartheid: The Forgetting of Race in the Anthropocene." *Critical Philosophy of Race*, 7 (1), pp. 1–31.
- UN-Women (United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment). 2008. Progress of the World's Women 2008/2009: Who Answers to Women? Gender and Accountability. New York: UN-Women.
- UN-Women. 2018. Turning Promises into Action: Gender Equality in the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. New York: UN-Women.
- UN-Women. 2019. "The Gender Gap in Agricultural Productivity in Sub-Saharan Africa: Causes, Costs, and Solutions." Policy Brief No. 11. New York: UN-Women.
- UN-Women. 2020. "COVID-19 and Violence against Women and Girls: Addressing the Shadow Pandemic." UN-Women Policy Brief Series No. 17. New York: UN-Women.
- UN-Women. 2021a. Beyond COVID-19: The Feminist Plan for Sustainability and Social Justice. New York: UN-Women.
- UN-Women. 2021b. "COVID-19 and Women's Rights Organizations: Bridging Response Gaps and Demanding a More Just Future." UN-Women Policy Brief Series No. 20. New York: UN-Women.
- UN-Women. 2022. "Model Questionnaire: Measuring the Nexus between Gender and Environment." Accessed 8 November 2023. https://data.unwomen.org/publications/model-questionnairemeasuring-nexus-between-gender-and-environment.
- UN-Women. Undated. "Women Count." Accessed 8 November 2023. https://data.unwomen.org/women-count.
- UN-Women and UN-Water. Undated. " Spotlight on Goal 6: From Commodity to Common Good – A Feminist Agenda to Tackle the World's Water Crisis." New York: UN-Women.
- UN-Women and UNDESA (United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs). 2023. "Progress on the Sustainable Development Goals: The Gender Snapshot 2023." Accessed 1 November 2023. https://www.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/2023-09/ progress-on-the-sustainable-development-goals-the-gendersnapshot-2023-en.pdf.
- UN-Women and UNDP (United Nations Development Programme). 2022. Government Responses to COVID-19: Lessons on Gender Equality for a World in Turmoil. New York: UN-Women.
- UN CEDAW (United Nations Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women). 2018. "General Recommendation (no. 37) on the Gender-Related Dimensions of Disaster Risk Reduction in the Context of Climate Change." CEDAW/C/GC/37.
- UN CEDAW (United Nations Committee on Discrimination against Women). 2022. "General Recommendation 39 (2022) on the Rights of Indigenous Women and Girls." CEDAW/C/GC/39.
- UN CRC (United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child). 2023. "General Comment No. 26 (2023) on Children's Rights and the Environment with a Special Focus on Climate Change." CRC/C/GC/26.
- UN CSW (United Nations Committee on the Status of Women). 2022. "Achieving Gender Equality and the Empowerment of All Women and Girls in the Context of Climate Change, Environmental and Disaster Risk Reduction Policies and Programmes: CSW 66 Agreed Conclusions." Accessed 2 November 2023. https://www.unwomen.org/sites/default/files/2022-03/ CSW66%20Agreed%20Conclusions_Advance%20unedited%20 version_25%20March%20202.pdf.

- UN ECOSOC (United Nations Economic and Social Council). 2020. "Review and Appraisal of the Implementation of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action and the Outcomes of the Twenty-third Special Session of the General Assembly: Report of the Secretary-General." E/CN.6/2020/3.
- UN Global Crisis Response Group. 2023. "A World of Debt: A Growing Burden to Global Prosperity." July. Accessed 1 November 2023. https://news.un.org/pages/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/ 2023_07-A-WORLD-OF-DEBT-JULY_FINAL.pdf.
- UN News (United Nations News). 2022. "Guterres Calls for 'Coalition of the World' to Overcome Divisions, Provide Hope in Place of Turmoil." 20 September. Accessed 2 November 2023. https://news.un.org/ en/story/2022/09/1127071.
- UN News. 2023. "Global Food Systems 'Broken', Says UN Chief, Urging Transformation in How We Produce, Consume Food." 24 July. Accessed 7 November 2023. https://news.un.org/en/story/2023/ 07/1139037#:~:text=Broken%20system&text=Unsustainable%20 food%20production%2C%20packaging%20and,usage%2C%20 and%20driving%20biodiversity%20loss.
- UN OHCHR (United Nations Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights). 2021. "UN Food Systems Summit Marginalizes Human Rights and Disappoints, Say Experts." Media Centre, 22 September. Accessed 7 November 2023. https://www.ohchr.org/ en/statements/2021/09/un-food-systems-summit-marginalizeshuman-rights-and-disappoints-say-experts.
- UNCBD (United Nations Convention on Biological Diversity). 2022. "Decision Adopted by the Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity." CBD/COP/DEC/15/11*
- UNCCD (United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification). 2018 "Gender Action Plan." Accessed 1 November 2023. https://www.unccd.int/sites/default/files/documents/2018-01/ GAP%20ENG%20%20low%20res_0.pdf.
- UNDESA (United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs). 2021 "Social Protection in Rural Areas: Achieving Universal Access for All." Policy Brief No. 107, May. New York: UNDESA.
- UNDP (United Nations Development Programme). 2022a. "Gender Equality in National Climate Action: Planning for Gender-Responsive Nationally Determined Contributions." New York: UNDP.
- UNDP. 2022b. "Advancing Gender Equality in National Climate Plans: Progress and Higher Ambitions." New York: UNDP.
- UNDRR (United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction). 2022. "Gender Responsive Disaster Risk Reduction." Policy Brief. Geneva: UNDRR.
- UNEP (United Nations Environment Programme). 2022a. Emission Gap Report 2022: The Closing Window – Climate Crisis Calls for Rapid Transformation of Societies. New York: UNEP.
- UNEP. 2022b. Adaptation Gap Report 2022: Too Little, Too Slow: Climate Adaptation Failure Puts World at Risk. Nairobi: UNEP.
- UNFCCC (United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change). 2014. "Report of the Conference of the Parties on its twentieth session, held in Lima from 1 to 14 December 2014: Addendum." FCCC/CP/2014/10/Add.3.
- UNFCC. 2020a. "Enhanced Lima Work Programme on Gender and its Gender Action Plan." In Report of the Conference of the Parties on Its Twenty-fifth Session, held in Madrid from 2 to 15 December 2019: Addendum. FCCC/CP/2019/13/Add.1
- UNFCCC. 2020b. "Report of the Conference of the Parties on Its Twenty-fifth session, Held in Madrid from 2 to 15 December 2019: Addendum." FCCC/CP/2019/13/Add.1.
- UNFPA (United Nations Population Fund). 2021. Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights in National Climate Policy: A Review of 50 Nationally Determined Contribution Documents. Johannesburg: UNFPA.
- UNHRC (United Nations Human Rights Council). 2011a. "Report Submitted by the Special Rapporteur on the Right to Food, Olivier De Schutter." A/HRC/16/49.

- UNHRC. 2011b. "Report of the Special Representative of the Secretary-General on the Issue of Human Rights and Transnational Corporations and Other Business Enterprises, John Ruggie: Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights – Implementing the United Nations 'Protect, Respect and Remedy' Framework." A/HRC/17/31.
- UNHRC. 2018. "Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Issue of Human Rights Obligations Relating to the Enjoyment of a Safe, Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment: Note by the Secretariat." A/HRC/37/59.
- UNHRC. 2021. "Resolution Adopted by the Human Rights Council on 7 October 2021: Situation of Human Rights in Afghanistan." A/HRC/RES/48/13.
- United Nations. 1992. "United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change." FCC/INFORMAL/84/Rev.1 GE.14-20481 (E).
- United Nations. 2023a. "Valuing What Counts: Framework to Progress Beyond Gross Domestic Product." Our Policy Brief 4, May. New York: United Nations.
- United Nations. 2023b. "Reforms to the International Finance Architecture." Our Common Agenda Policy Brief 6, May. Accessed 31 October 2023. https://sdgs.un.org/sites/default/files/2023-08/ourcommon-agenda-policy-brief-international-financearchitecture-en.pdf.
- United Nations Climate Change. 2023. "Counting on a Sustainable Future: Global Conference on Gender and Environment Data." Accessed & November 2023. https://www.eventcreate.com/e/ cop28genderdata.
- United Nations Climate Change. Undated-a. "Global Stocktaking." Accessed 31 October 2023. https://unfccc.int/topics/global-stocktake.
- United Nations Climate Change. Undated-b. "What is Climate Finance?" Accessed 3 November 2023. https://unfccc.int/topics/climatefinance/the-big-picture/introduction-to-climate-finance.
- United Nations General Assembly. 2021a. "Our Common Agenda: Report of the Secretary-General." A/75/982.
- United Nations General Assembly. 2021b. "The Right to Food: Interim Report of the Special Rapporteur on the Right to Food, Michael Fakhri." A/76/237.
- United Nations General Assembly. 2022. "The Human Right to a Clean, Healthy and Sustainable Environment." A/RES/76/300.
- UNRISD (United Nations Research Institute for Social Development). 2016. Policy Innovation for Transformative Change: Implementing the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. Geneva: UNRISD.
- UNRISD. 2022. Crises of Inequality: Shifting Power for a New Eco-Social Contract. Geneva: UNRISD.
- Urhahn, J. Undated. "Global Hunger Is Worse than You Think: To Defeat Hunger Around the World, We Must Rethink How We Measure It." Rosa Luxemburg Stiftung. Accessed 6 November 2023. https://www.rosalux.de/en/news/id/51050.
- V-Dem. 2023a. "Varieties of Democracy (V-Dem)." Accessed 17 October 2023. https://v-dem.net.
- V-Dem. 2023b. Democracy Report: Defiance in the Face of Autocratization. Gothenburg, Sweden: V-Dem Institute, University of Gothenburg.
- Vanuatu ICJ Initiative. 2023. "ICJ Resolution." Accessed 2 November 2023. https://www.vanuatuicj.com/resolution.
- Verloo, M. and D. Paternotte. 2018. "The Feminist Project under Threat in Europe." *Politics and Governance* 6 (3), pp. 1–5.
- Watkins, K. 2023. "School Meal Programmes: A Missing Link in Food Systems Reform." Sustainable Financing Initiative for School Health and Nutrition, 24 July. Accessed 7 November 2023. https://www.edc. org/sites/default/files/School-meals-Food-Systems.pdf.

- WBCSD (World Business Council for Sustainable Development). 2023. "Reducing Inequalities for Food Security and Nutrition: HLPE-FSN 18th Report." WBCSD Business Brief. Accessed 6 November 2013. https://www.wbcsd.org/contentwbc/download/ 16582/235782/1.
- WEDO (Women's Environment and Development Organization). 2022. "Nearly 150 Organizations Call on U.S. Government to Support a Loss and Damage Finance Facility at COP27." News, 24 October. Accessed 1 November 2023. https://wedo.org/nearly-150organizations-call-on-u-s-government-to-support-a-lossand-damage-finance-facility-at-cop27.
- WEDO. 2023a. "Who Decides: Women's Participation in the UN Climate Change Convention." Accessed 10 September 2023. https:// wedo.org/who-decides-womens-participation-in-the-unclimate-change-convention/?blm_aid=234740737.
- WEDO. 2023b. "Gender Climate Tracker." Accessed 2 November 2023. https://genderclimatetracker.org.
- WFP (World Food Programme). 2020. State of School Feeding Worldwide 2020. Rome: World Food Programme.
- Wijenayake, V. 2020. "Addressing Loss and Damage with a Gender Lens". Climate Action Network South Asia (CANSA). Accessed 1 November 2023. https://cansouthasia.net/addressing-lossand-damage-with-a-gender-lens.
- Williams, F. 2021. Social Policy: A Critical and Intersectional Analysis. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Williams, F. 2023. "Centring Reparation, Intersectionality and Interdependence in Feminist Climate Justice. Notes for UN-Women's Progress of the World's Women." Paper prepared for the Expert Group Meeting, UN-Women, 11-12 July. In press.
- Willis, R., N. Curato and G. Smith. 2022. "Deliberative Democracy and the Climate Crisis." WIREs Climate Change 13 (2), e759.
- WGC (Women and Gender Constituency). 2022. "COP27: Demands for a Gender and Climate Just World." Accessed 31 October 2023. https://womengenderclimate.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/ WGC_KeyDemandsCOP27_Final.pdf.
- WGC. 2023. "About Us.". Accessed 31 October 2023. https://womengender climate.org/about-us/#:~:text=The%20Constituency%20 works%20to%20ensure,resulted%20in%20the%20climate%20crisis. Decision 18/CP.20: https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/2014/cop20/ eng/10a03.pdf#page=35%22; Decision 3/CP.25.
- WBG (Women's Budget Group). 2020. "Creating a Caring Economy: A Call to Action." Final Report of the Commission on a Gender-Equal Economy. Accessed 1 November 2023. https://wbg.org.uk/ wp-content/uploads/2020/10/WBG-Report-v10.pdf.
- World Meteorological Organization. 2023. "Global Sea-Level Rise and Implications: Facts and Figures." Accessed 1 November 2023. https://public.wmo.int/en/global-sea-level-rise-andimplications-facts-and-figures.
- Wyns, A. 2023. "COP27 Establishes Loss and Damage Fund to Respond to Human Cost of Climate Change." *The Lancet Planetary Health* 7 (1), pp. E21–E22.
- Xu, X., P. Sharma, S. Shu et al. 2021. "Global Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Animal-based Foods Are Twice Those of Plant-based Foods." Nature Food 2, pp. 724–732.
- Zelic, H. and B. Pessoa. 2021. "LGBTQIA+ Peasants in Struggle: Free Our Land, Free Our Bodies." Capire, 28 June. Accessed 6 November 2023. https://capiremov.org/en/experience/lgbtqia-peasantsin-struggle-free-our-land-free-our-bodies.
- Zhu, Y., C. He, M. Bell et al. 2023. "Association of Ambient Temperature with the Prevalence of Intimate Partner Violence Among Partnered Women in Low- and Middle-Income South Asian Countries." JAMA Psychiatry 80 (9), pp. 952–961.

UN-Women is the United Nations organization dedicated to gender equality and the empowerment of women. A global champion for women and girls, it was established to accelerate progress on meeting their needs worldwide.

UN-Women supports United Nations Member States as they set global standards for achieving gender equality and works with governments and civil society to design the laws, policies, programmes and services needed to ensure that the standards are effectively implemented and truly benefit women and girls worldwide. It works globally to make the vision of the Sustainable Development Goals a reality for women and girls and stands behind women's equal participation in all aspects of life, focusing on four strategic priorities: Women lead, participate in and benefit equally from governance systems; Women have income security, decent work and economic autonomy; All women and girls live a life free from all forms of violence; and Women and girls contribute to and have greater influence in building sustainable peace and resilience and benefit equally from the prevention of natural disasters and conflicts and humanitarian action. UN-Women also coordinates and promotes the United Nations system's work in advancing gender equality.

The climate crisis is the most pressing issue of our times, one that is threatening progress on gender equality and human rights and hindering the achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals. Against this backdrop of rising global temperatures and unfulfilled national pledges, women, girls and gender-diverse people are mobilizing to demand that their voices be heard in decision-making on climate policy.

To answer their demands, this paper describes how to achieve feminist climate justice through four interlinked dimensions (recognition, redistribution, representation and reparation) and the principles of interdependence and intersectionality. It provides practical guidance on what countries need to do to transition to low-emission economies that are resilient to a changing climate, while advancing gender equality and recognising the leadership of women, girls and gender-diverse people in driving the change that is so urgently needed. In doing so, it zooms in on the global food system as just one illustration of how this framework can be applied, as well as provides analysis of the major barriers to accountability for gender-responsive climate action and how they can be overcome.

The vision for feminist climate justice is of a world in which everyone can enjoy the full range of human rights, free from discrimination, and flourish on a planet that is healthy and sustainable. With this conceptual framework, UN-Women aims to open up space for discussion of feminist alternatives to the status quo and to inform the next edition of its flagship report, *Progress of the World's Women*, on gender equality in the age of climate crisis.

220 East 42nd Street New York, New York 10017, USA

www.unwomen.org data.unwomen.org www.facebook.com/unwomen www.twitter.com/un_women www.youtube.com/unwomen www.flickr.com/unwomen instagram.com/unwomen



